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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in the production and sale of daily consumption pork and related meat food products 
for the domestic market as well as hog breeding and hog farming in Changde, Hunan Province, the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”). The Group is also engaged in selling and distributing pipe system products; and the provision 
of technical advisory services on the design, application, implementation, and installation.

Slaughtering and trading of pork products
During the year under review, the operation in the slaughtering and trading of pork products has undergone no 
significant change. The price of hog meat was within a range of RMB14.20 per kg to RMB17.50 per kg, affecting 
the Group’s revenue, which dropped slightly from approximately RMB65.9 million in 2022 to RMB65.2 million in 
2023. The price was closer to the same before the outbreak of African Swine Fever in 2018 (“ASF”). However, 
according to the turmoil of the current market, such circumstances would lead to an adverse change in consumers’ 
purchasing power, such as a drastically dropped property market, enterprises in different kinds of industries going 
bankrupt, a downturn in market demand, etc. This impacted demand for consumption.

For the past few years, since the outbreak of ASF and the COVID-19 pandemic, the PRC government authorities 
have implemented several stringent requirements on breeding farms and slaughterhouses, such as the setting 
up of a testing laboratory and re-designing of inspection and production procedures. In fact, the enhancement of 
such implementation has not met the satisfaction of the PRC government authorities, our slaughtering business 
was eventually suspended. As such, the Group has taken an alternative approach by purchasing piglets from 
independent pig farmers for fattening purposes, then outsourcing the hog slaughtering procedures to an independent 
slaughterhouse in order to resume our existing operations. This change has no significant impact, while it could 
benefit the Group by adopting our cost control measures.

Despite the volatility of the current market or the difficulties in the sustainability of day-to-day operations, the 
management is of the view that open-up of a new chapter for resuming the slaughtering business would be in favour 
of the Group. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30 November 2022, the Group succeeded in 
cooperating with a joint venture partner by forming a joint venture enterprise to resume the hog slaughtering business. 
Given that, after obtaining the operation and slaughter permits, the management expects that the production cost 
may be further reduced, and in return, it can optimise the Group’s profit margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Write-off of property, plant and equipment of RMB57.4 million
At the end of 2023, the Company received formal notices from the land lessors of certain breeding farms indicating 
that due to environmental protection, the government requested the land lessors to terminate the land leases of 
the three farms, i.e. Hongfeng, Tianhe and Qinglin. After negotiation with the land lessors, some of them agreed to 
return the prepaid rental  (if any) for the remaining lease period and make compensation. Certain reusable facilities 
and systems from these farms were dismantled and transferred to the farm in Zoushi for storage and safekeeping.

Due to the factors such as gloomy pork prices for recent years and African Swine Fever, the Company has adopted a 
relatively conservative strategy in the breeding business in the past few years and has not conducted batch breeding 
and the conditions of the relevant assets, it was determined that the assets (including the building structures and 
the facilities and systems) of the farms at Hongfeng, Tianhe and Qinglin (including those relocated to the farm in 
Zoushi) would carry no significant future economic benefit to the Group in the near future, the management of the 
Company then made the decision to write off the abovementioned assets.

Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB59.9 million
Due to a large-scale snowstorm and freezing disaster in northern Hunan province in February 2024, the roofs of the 
Company’s Zoushi breeding farm and Bianshanpu breeding farm collapsed. The new farm under construction which 
had not passed for acceptance has also not survived in the disaster, the equipment and facilities in the collapsed 
barn were destroyed.

Since we cannot provide specific and reliable data to support more promising performance, the above farms could 
only be evaluated based on a more conservative operating budget, and impairment loss were then made based on 
the results of the valuer’s valuation.

During the audit process, the management of the Company took into account of the current situation (including the 
long-term low domestic pig prices, the continued spread of African Swine Fever with regional outbreaks, the high 
cost of rebuilding and repairing cost of the disaster-stricken farms, etc.) and made a decision on the possibility of 
achieving profitability within a reasonable period of time upon we rebuild and repair the disaster-stricken farms. In 
addition, the Company also spent a lot of time looking for specific and reliable data and information to support the 
evaluation of the farm’s operating budget.

Pipe system products
During the reporting year, the Japanese economy is continuously facing significant challenges due to the uncertainties 
of the economic environment caused by frequent earthquakes and natural disasters, the deflation risk on currency 
exchange, and the release of treated radioactive water from the Fukushima plant into the Pacific Ocean. Our pipe 
system products business has no exception on it. In fact, construction delays have also been affecting our sales 
orders and services. The above challenges have also disrupted local supply chains and trade, leading to a decline in 
its economic growth. In this respect, our revenue from pipe system products business dropped by approximately 
RMB4.0 million or 56.9% as compared to the corresponding year in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB68.3 million, representing 
a decrease of approximately 6.4% or RMB4.7 million as compared with approximately RMB72.9 million in 2022, while 
the gross profit for the year was approximately RMB0.1 million as compared to a gross profit of approximately RMB1.8 
million in 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to a decrease in revenue from pipe system products business. For 
slaughtering and trading of pork products business, the revenue was decreased by approximately RMB0.6 million or 
0.9% to approximately RMB65.2 million in 2023. The revenue from pipe system products business was decreased 
by approximately RMB4.0 million or 56.9% to approximately RMB3.1 million in 2023.

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased from approximately 
RMB81,000 to approximately RMB53,000.

The administrative expenses of the Group was decreased by approximately 4.7 million or 24.2% to approximately 
14.7 million in 2023.

The Group has no finance cost in 2022 and 2023.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company in 2023 was approximately RMB144.4 million, while it was a loss 
of approximately RMB5.6 million in 2022. The increase in loss was mainly due to the recognition of impairment loss 
and write-off of property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB59.9 million and RMB57.4 million respectively, 
and an allowance for expected credit loss of approximately RMB24.5 million in 2023.

An allowance for expected credit loss of RMB24.5 million
This increase was mainly due to the provision for expected credit losses in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards made by the valuer, which included an increase of approximately RMB6 million in accounts 
receivable. This increase in accounts receivable was still in the 0–60 day period, so the Company does not believe 
that the relevant accounts receivable have collection risks.

Due to changes in the economic environment, the valuer of the Company considered making an impairment loss on 
the trade deposit paid of approximately RMB10 million in the pipeline business. This deposit was paid to operate 
related businesses and should be fully recovered when the project is completed. The pipeline business has temporarily 
suspended due to COVID-19 pandemic and was resuming now. In addition, based on the possibility of recovery, the 
management of the Company also made impairment provisions for other receivables of approximately RMB3 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group maintained cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2023 amounting to approximately RMB389.8 
million (2022: approximately RMB416.4 million). The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2023 was 5.9 (2022: 
5.1). The total equity of the Group amounted to approximately RMB416.7 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 
approximately RMB561.0 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no outstanding borrowings (2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group intends to finance its operations and investment with its operating revenue, internal resources and bank 
facilities. The directors of the Company believe that the Group is in a healthy financial position and has sufficient 
resources to satisfy its capital expenditure and working capital requirement.

Most of the trading transactions, assets and liabilities of the Group were denominated in Renminbi, Euros, Japanese 
Yen and Hong Kong dollars for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group adopted a conservative treasury 
policy with most of the bank deposits being kept in Hong Kong dollars, or in the local currencies of the operating 
subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risks. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no foreign 
exchange contracts, interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes.

CHARGE OF GROUP ASSETS

The Group had no charges on the Group’s assets as at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (being its total debts, which is the borrowings, divided by its 
total equity and multiplied by 100%) was nil (2022: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since most of transactions of the Group were denominated in Renminbi, Euros, Japanese Yen and Hong Kong 
dollars, and the exchange rates of such currencies were relatively stable over the year under review, the directors 
of the Company believe that foreign exchange exposure does not have any significant adverse effect to the Group. 
Therefore, the Group has not implemented any formal hedging or other alternative policies to deal with such exposure.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company were not aware of any material contingent liabilities.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any plans for material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During the year, there was no other significant investment.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 34 staff and workers in Hong Kong, Japan and the PRC (2022: 21). 
The Group remunerates its directors based on the complexity of duties and responsibilities of each individual. The 
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance and experience and their remuneration package will 
be reviewed periodically by the management. Other employee benefits include contributions to social security, 
medical insurance and retirement schemes and provision of appropriate training program. The Company adopted a 
share option scheme to enable it to grant share options to, among others, selected eligible employees as incentive 
or reward for their contributions.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the capital structure of the Company comprised of its issued share capital and reserves.

As at 31 December 2023 and the date of this annual report, there are a total of 880,838,000 issued shares of the 
Company.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with respect to our new joint venture operating a new slaughterhouse in near future, the Group 
expects that our slaughtering business will be gradually taken an important role in the Group’s businesses. This 
will enable us to produce better quality pork products, better cost control measures and expand the best offerings 
to the market in the PRC. It will lead the Group to capture more of the local pork supply chain and a larger market 
share in the future.

The Group aims to optimise the allocation of resources and adopt cost control measures between our businesses 
in slaughtering and pipe system products, on the other hand, to maximise the benefits to our shareholders and the 
Company. Given the volatility of the global economy, especially directly affected the local economy in the PRC and 
Japan, we will be closely monitoring our measures in business risk and internal controls.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR END DATE

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 30 November 2022 (the “Announcement”) in relation to 
the subscription of 42,000,000 new shares of the Company (the “Subscription”) at a subscription price of HK$0.053 
each to be subscribed by an agent (the “Subscriber”), a third party independent of and not connected with the 
Company, and any of its connected persons who are not connected persons of the Company (as defined in the 
Listing Rules), which shall be subject to fulfilling all conditions as stated in the Announcement for the establishment 
of a joint venture and further successfully obtaining the operation and slaughtering permits.

On 31 January 2024, the operation and slaughtering permits have been granted to the new joint venture named 常
德市西湖區惠生肉食有限公司 (Changde Xihu Huisheng Meat Products Limited*). All conditions stated in the 
Announcement have been fulfilled. The Subscription Shares shall be issued and allotted to the Subscriber in due 
course.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

*　For identification purposes only.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Qin Yuanling (覃媛玲), aged 58, was appointed as an executive Director on 30 September 2021. She was also 
appointed as one of the authorised representative of the Company and a member of the Investment and Treasury 
Committee on 30 June 2022. Ms Qin studied at Changde Fundamental University (常德基礎大學) majoring in Electrical 
Automation from 1984 to 1987. From July 1987 to January 2000, she worked at Changde Cable Power Plant* 
(常德有線電廠). From January 2000 to October 2006, she worked at Huda Yuancheng Group Company Limited* 
(湖大遠程集團有限公司). From October 2009 to December 2012, she worked at Changde Jinda Commodity Concrete 
Company Limited* (常德市金達商品砼有限責任公司). She joined Hunan Huisheng Meat Products Company Limited* 
(湖南惠生肉業有限公司) (“Hunan Huisheng”) in February 2013 and successively worked at the general department 
and finance department. Since May 2019, she has been a director of Hunan Huisheng.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wang Guiping (王貴平), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 29 October 2020, 
and became a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee 
and the Investment and Treasury Committee of the Company on 30 June 2022. He is an expert in animal microbiology 
and immunology. He is currently a deputy professor and tutor of master of Hunan Agricultural University* (湖南農
業大學). Dr. Wang has been involved in various research projects and has published numbers of articles. Dr. Wang 
obtained his doctorate degree in clinical veterinary science from Hunan Agricultural University* (湖南農業大學) in 2014.

Mr. Huang, Ruilin (黃瑞林), aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, and a member of 
each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 18 August 2022. He 
is currently a postgraduate tutor and researcher. In 1985, he graduated from the Department of School of Animal 
Science and Technology, School of Animal Medicine of the Huazhong Agricultural University (華中農業大學) with a 
bachelor’s degree in agronomy. After graduation, he engaged in research on animal nutrition and physiology at the 
Institute of Subtropical Agriculture, the Chinese Academy of Sciences (中國科學院亞熱帶農業生態研究所). And he 
is also the deputy director of the Animal Nutrition and Environment Society (湖南省動物營養與環境學會) in Hunan 
Province of China. Since 2005, he has been an expert in the evaluation of national science and technology awards.

Mr. Huang has participated in and presided over a number of national key Research & Development (“R&D”) projects, 
national key scientific and technological projects, international cooperation, the National Natural Science Foundation 
of China, and key projects of the Chinese Academy of Sciences.

He is currently undertaking China’s 14th national key R&D project “Dynamic Nutrition Demand and Precision Nutrition 
Supply Technology of Pigs and Poultry”, and serves as the chief scientist of the project in China. He has won the 
National Science and Technology Progress Award, the Ministry of Agriculture Science and Technology Progress 
Award, the Agricultural Science and Technology Award (Harvest Award), the Chinese Academy of Sciences Science 
and Technology Progress Award and many other awards.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (陳冠楠), aged 44, obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from The 
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November 2001. Mr. Chan is a member of Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants since January 2008.

He has over 20 years of experience in audit assurance sector and is currently working as consultant to public/private 
companies. Mr. Chan joined BDO Limited between 2006 and 2021 and held management positions in audit & 
assurance department handling various engagements including IPOs, acquisitions and various special engagements. 
In 2021, Mr. Chan joined GTI Holdings Limited (previous stock code: 3344) working as chief financial officer until 
September 2023, the issued shares of which had been formerly listed on the Stock Exchange. He is currently 
working as a consultant to potential IPO companies and listed company providing financial advisory and company 
secretarial services. 

Save as disclosed, Mr. Chan has not held any directorship in any public listed company in the past three years.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lau Chi Yuen (劉智遠), Mr. Lau, aged 48, was appointed as the company secretary and the authorised 
representative of the Company on 31 May 2019. Mr. Lau does not act as an employee of the Group, but as an 
external service provider. Mr. Lau had served as company secretary in companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Lau has 
extensive experience in company secretarial services, corporate finance, merger and acquisition, investor relationship 
and corporate governance aspects. Mr. Lau obtained a Master of Professional Accounting degree from the Southern 
Cross University in September 2004. Mr. Lau is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
since July 2008 and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Lau has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the Group is principally engaged in breeding 
and slaughtering of hogs and sale of pork products in the PRC, selling and distributing of pipe system products, 
conducting in the provision of technical advisory services on the design, application, implementation and installation. 
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The Group’s revenue for the year is principally attributable to the sale of pork products to customers, selling and 
distributing of pipe system products, conducting in the provision of technical advisory services on the design, 
application, implementation and installation. An analysis of the revenue from the principal activities during the year 
is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 6 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Further discussion and analysis of the Company’s activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely 
future developments in the Group’s businesses and other relevant information, can be found in the “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 3 to 7. Such discussion forms part of this “Report of the Directors”.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of affairs of the Group and the Company 
as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 43, 45 and 137 respectively.

Details of the distributable reserves of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are 
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements 
respectively. As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance 
with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately RMBnil (2022: approximately RMBnil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Directors 
and based on the information publicly available to the Company, there is a sufficient public float as required by the 
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of 
Association”) although there are no restrictions against such rights under the law in the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by reason of their holdings in the
Shares.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group maintains a mandatory provident fund (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. 
The Group’s and employees’ contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on 5% of the relevant income of the 
relevant employee (up to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000) and in accordance with the requirements 
of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and related regulations.

The employees in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC 
government. The Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Japan are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with 
respect to the scheme is to make the required contribution under the scheme.

BORROWINGS

None of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s revenue and purchases attributable to the major customers and suppliers 
respectively during the financial year are as follows:

Percentage of the Group’s total 
revenue purchases

   

The largest customer 16% N/A
The five largest customers in aggregate 67% N/A
The largest supplier N/A 45%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate N/A 99%   

So far as the Board is aware, neither the Directors, their close associates nor any shareholders of the Company 
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial 
interest in these major customers and suppliers.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on 
pages 143 and 144 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment and is committed to becoming 
an environmentally-friendly corporation. We have installed waste treatment facilities at our breeding farms and 
production base. We have adopted internal control procedures in relation to waste treatment at our breeding farms 
and production base, such as the processing of hog faeces into fertilisers and the biological treatment of sewage.

For more details, please refer to the separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended 
31 December 2023 which will be available on the Company’s website under the “Investors Relations – Financial 
Statements & ESG” section and the website of the Stock Exchange at the same time as the publication of this 
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, as far as the Company is aware, save as disclosed in this annual report, 
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations by the Group that have 
a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(i) Employees
Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the Group regards the personal development 
of its employees as highly important. The Group aims to continue to be a responsible employer for committed 
employees. The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path and provide opportunities 
for advancement and improvement of their skills.

(ii) Suppliers
The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a number of suppliers and has taken great care 
to ensure that they share its commitment as to quality and ethics. The Group carefully selects its suppliers 
and requires them to satisfy certain assessment criteria including experience, reputation and quality control 
effectiveness.

(iii) Customers
The Group is committed to offer quality products to its customers and keep them informed of its latest 
business developments.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no significant dispute between the Group and its employees, 
suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Director
Ms. Qin Yuanling

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Wang Guiping
Mr. Huang Ruilin
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024)

According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of 
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less 
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an 
annual general meeting of the Company at least once every three years.
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According to Article 83(3), any Director appointed by the Board as an additional Director shall hold office only until 
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Thus, in accordance with Articles 83(3) and 84 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Qin Yuanling and Mr. Chan Kwun 
Nam will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company. The initial term of the executive 
Director under her respective service contract is three years, which is renewable automatically for successive terms 
of one year after the expiry of the term of appointment, subject to termination by either party to the contract serving 
written notice to the other to terminate such employment to take effect three months from the date of serving such 
notice. The aggregate amount of discretionary management bonuses payable to the executive Director in respect of 
any financial year shall be subject to the approval by the Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholders”) in general 
meeting and shall not exceed five percent of the audited consolidated net profits of the Group (after taxation and 
minority interests but before extraordinary and exceptional items) of the same financial year.

Each of Dr. Wang Guiping, Mr. Huang Ruilin and Mr. Chan Kwun Nam has been appointed pursuant to a letter of 
appointment for an initial term of three years, subject to renewal as confirmed by the Company until terminated 
in accordance with the provisions of the employment contract and/or the provisions of the Articles of Association 
from time to time, the Listing Rules and the Companies Law.

Save for their remuneration, none of the independent non-executive Directors is expected to receive any other 
emoluments for holding their office as an independent non-executive Director.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other 
than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director a written confirmation of independence 
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are 
independent.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The number of senior management whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

2023 2022
   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 – –
   

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 11 February 2014 (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) 
was terminated with effect from 30 June 2023 and no more share options may be granted under the 2014 Share 
Option Scheme. All outstanding share options under the 2014 Share Option Scheme would continue to be valid 
and exercisable in accordance with the principal terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The Company adopted a 
new share option scheme at the annual general meeting held on 30 June 2023 (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) 
reflecting the latest changes and requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The total number of securities available for issue under the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023 was 
88,083,800 shares (31 December 2022: 88,083,800 shares) which represented approximately 10.0% (31 December 
2022: approximately 10.0%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

On 28 July 2021, the Company granted a total of 88,080,000 options with the right to subscribe 88,080,000 ordinary 
shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company under the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The closing price 
per share immediately before the grant of options on 28 July 2021 was HK$0.083. A total of 88,080,000 options 
were granted to the employees and consultants of the Company respectively, at an exercise price of HK$0.083 each.
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The 2023 Share Option Scheme provides the grantees with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company 
with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(1) to attract and retain the best quality personnel for the development of the Group’s businesses;

(2) to provide additional incentives or rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution to the creation 
of the Company’s value; and

(3) to promote the long-term financial success of the Group by aligning the interest of grantees to those of the 
shareholders.

A summary of the principal terms of rules of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is set out in the circular of the Company 
dated 30 May 2023.

Details of such interests and movement of options granted by the Company are shown below:

Number of share options

Name Title

Exercise 
price
HK$ Date of Grant Exercise period

Outstanding
as at 

1 Jan 2023

Granted 
during the 

year

Outstanding
as at 

31 December 
2023 Note

         

Employees
0.083 28/07/2021 28/07/2021–27/07/2024 44,040,000 – 44,040,000 1&2   

Sub-total: 44,040,000 – 44,040,000   

Consultants
Lau Chi Yuen Company Secretary 0.083 28/07/2021 28/07/2021–27/07/2024 8,808,000 – 8,808,000 1
Liu Jianhua Pig Business – Breeding and 

　Slaughter
0.083 28/07/2021 28/07/2021–27/07/2024 8,808,000 – 8,808,000 1

Lee Kwok Leung Pig Business – Trading 0.083 28/07/2021 28/07/2021–27/07/2024 8,808,000 – 8,808,000 1
Ng Kwok Hung, Perry Pig Business – Trading 0.083 28/07/2021 28/07/2021–27/07/2024 8,808,000 – 8,808,000 1
Ng Ka Lun Pipelines Business – Trading 0.083 28/07/2021 28/07/2021–27/07/2024 8,808,000 – 8,808,000 1   

Sub-total: 44,040,000 – 44,040,000   

TOTAL: 88,080,000 – 88,080,000
   

Notes:

1. The share options granted to the grantees have no vesting period and no vesting condition.

2. Each employee holds not more than 1% of the shares of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The employees of the Company are responsible for various daily operational duties for the Group including but not 
limited to sales, marketing, business development and other administrative duties of the Group. The Board believes 
that the grant of options to employees shall provide incentives and motivates the grantees to perform their best 
towards the goal of the Group.

Mr. Lau Chi Yuen is the company secretary and the authorised representative of the Company. He provides company 
secretarial services and serves us with the updated amendments in Listing Rules and other company secretarial 
affairs. Ms. Liu Jianhua is the business consultant of the PRC subsidiaries specializing in pig fattening and the 
sanitary environment of the hog farms and slaughterhouses and is responsible for coordinating to develop branding 
and marketing of the pig business in the PRC. Mr. Lee Kwok Leung and Mr. Ng Kwok Hung, Perry are responsible 
for liaising with new potential suppliers and customers to develop the pork products trading business and also 
coordinating in compilation of sales plans and sales proposals. Mr. Ng Ka Lun is responsible for the development 
of pipelines business and also assists to explore new business partners in the region of the South East Asia. All 
consultants have entered into service contracts with the Company with no fixed term of service.

The Company believes that the grant of share option provides motivations for the consultants to create value for 
the Company. The number of share options granted to them is determined with reference to the market and the 
potential benefits and/or income they may bring to the Group.

No performance targets or clawback mechanism are required under the share option.

Among the above grantees, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, none of the other 
grantees are overlapped or connected/related to each other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the outstanding share options were exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the 
year ended 31 December 2023.

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.



18

A
N

N
U

A
L R

E
P

O
R

T
 2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests and short 
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were required (i) to be notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and 
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, no person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests 
and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the 
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to 
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the service contracts and letters of appointment entered into with the respective Directors, no transaction, 
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a 
Director or an entity connected with a Director was or had been materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Director had an interest in 
any business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, 
with the Group’s business that need to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of Director Name of Company Nature of Business Nature of interest
    

Wong Yuk Lun, Alan 
　(Note)

NOVA Group Holdings 
　Limited (“NOVA”), 
　Stock Code: 1360

Money Lending Business Executive director, chief 
　executive officer and 
　chairman of NOVA

Note: Wong Yuk Lun, Alan resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 6 February 2024.

As the Board is independent to the board of the above mentioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on 
its business independently and at arm’s length transactions, from the business of the above companies.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, save as disclosed above, none 
of the Directors or the controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company were considered to 
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business 
of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in note 
36 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other connected 
transactions or non-exempted continuing connected transactions to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR END DATE

Details of the events after the year end date are set out on page 7 of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” 
of this annual report.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire and a resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company to re-appoint them as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Qin Yuanling
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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The Company has adopted all the code provisions (the “Code Provision(s)”) stated in the Corporate Governance Code 
(“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the code of the Company. The Board also reviews 
and monitors the practices of the Company from time to time with an aim to maintain and improve the Company’s 
standards of corporate governance practices.

The Company had complied with the Code Provisions during the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf of the Shareholders. The Board is of the view that it is 
the Directors’ responsibilities to create value for Shareholders and safeguard the best interests of the Company and 
the Shareholders by discharging its duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the principle of good faith. 
The management is delegated by the Board to execute these business strategies and directions and is responsible 
for the daily operations of the Group.

The Board currently comprises four Directors, including an executive Director, Ms. Qin Yuanling and three independent 
non-executive Directors, Mr. Huang Ruilin, Dr. Wang Guiping and Mr. Chan Kwun Nam in compliance with the 
requirement of the Listing Rules which states that every board of directors of an issuer must include at least three 
independent non-executive directors representing one-third of the board with one of whom possessing appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The list of Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report is set out on page 13 and the biographical 
details of the Directors and relevant relationships among them (if any) are set out on pages 8 to 9 of this annual 
report. Save as disclosed therein, there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship 
among the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The primary functions of the Board include:

• deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational and financial performance and formulating appropriate 
policies to manage risk exposure associated with realising the strategies and goals of the Group;

• overseeing the corporate governance functions of the Company and being held accountable for the internal 
control system of the Company and responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

• being ultimately responsible for preparing financial accounts and discussing the performance, financial conditions 
and prospects of the Company in a balanced, clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities are 
applicable to interim and annual reports of the Company, other inside information announcements published 
according to the Listing Rules and disclosure of other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory 
bodies and information discloseable under statutory requirements;

• whilst executive Directors/chief executives, who oversee the overall business of the Company, are responsible 
for the daily operations of the Company, the Board is responsible for affairs involving the overall policies, 
finance and shareholders of the Company, namely financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes 
to accounting policies, annual operating budgets, material contracts, major financing arrangements, principal 
investment and risk management strategy;

• the management is well informed of its power with clear guidelines and instructions, in particular regarding 
situations under which reporting to the Board is necessary and matters that require the approval of the Board 
before any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the Company; and

• regularly reviewing its own functions and the powers conferred upon executive Directors/chief executives 
to ensure appropriate arrangements are in place.

During their terms of office, the Directors all carried out their work in a dedicated, diligent and proactive manner 
with reasonable prudence. Meanwhile, they carried out the duties of directors imposed by the relevant company 
laws of the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong, the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules, complied with the 
relevant requirements, strictly implemented resolutions of general meetings, promoted the continuous and healthy 
development of the Company’s operations, oversaw the corporate governance of the Company, pressed for the 
improvement of the governance standard of the Company and exerted the decision-making function of the Board 
in its full swing.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Currently, the Company does not have the role of chairman and chief executive officer. The chief executive officer’s 
duties have then been undertaken by members of the Board. They are responsible for corporate planning, business 
development strategy and overall direction of the Group. The senior management is responsible for the day-to-day 
operations of the Group under the leadership of the Board. The Company will use its best endeavour in finding a 
suitable candidate to assume the duties as Chairman when appropriate.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board considers the independent non-executive Directors can provide independent advice on the Company’s 
business strategies, results and management so as to safeguard the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The terms of appointment of each of the independent non-executive Directors are set out on page 14 of this annual 
report. None of the independent non-executive Directors holds any other offices in the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries. Within the meaning of the laws and regulations issued by relevant securities regulatory authorities, 
none of the independent non-executive Directors is interested in any shares of the Company.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a written confirmation of his 
independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive 
Directors are independent.

COMMITMENTS

The full Board should meet at least four times a year, at approximately quarterly intervals, to review the financial 
performance, results of each period, material investments and other matters of the Group that require the resolution 
of the Board. Simultaneous conference call may be used to improve attendance when individual Director cannot 
attend the meeting in person. Opinions of the independent non-executive Directors are actively sought by the 
Company if they are unable to attend the meeting in person.

At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given an opportunity to include 
matters for discussion in the agenda. If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal 
to be considered by the Board, the individual is required to declare such interest and to abstain from voting. The 
matter is considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no material interest in the transaction.

Board minutes of each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable 
time on reasonable notice by any Director.



H
U

IS
H

E
N

G
 IN

T
E

R
N

A
T

IO
N

A
L H

O
LD

IN
G

S
 LIM

IT
E

D

23

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four Board meetings and one general meeting were held and the 
attendance records of the Directors are set out below:

Attendance/
Number of

general meeting

Attendance/
Number of

board meetings
   

Executive Director
Ms. Qin Yuanling 1/1 4/4

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Wang Guiping 1/1 4/4
Mr. Huang Ruilin 1/1 4/4
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024) N/A N/A
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024) 1/1 4/4
   

EXPERIENCE

Executive and non-executive Directors possess administrative leadership, diversified expertise and extensive 
industrial management experience. Independent non-executive Directors possess extensive expertise, experience 
and judging capability in various fields, in particular the appropriate accounting qualifications possessed by Mr. Wong 
Yuk Lun, Alan. During its decision-making process, the Board holds in high regard the views of the independent 
non-executive Directors, who serve as the effective direction of the Group’s operations.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the code provision B.1.3 of the CG Code, listed issuers are regulated to adopt a board diversity policy. The 
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. 
The summary of the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”), together with the measurable objectives set 
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress for achieving those objectives are disclosed as below:–

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy
With the aim of enhancing Board effectiveness and corporate governance as well as achieving our business objectives, 
in designing the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but 
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge 
and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates will be considered against 
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Measurable objectives
Selection of candidates of the Board members will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge 
and length of service and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. 
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, 
having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Implementation and Monitoring
The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the progress of the measurable objectives set out in the 
Board Diversity Policy, and reviewed the Board’s composition at least once annually. The Nomination Committee 
has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives was summarised as 
follows:

1 2 3 4 50

Educational background

Designation

Age group

Length of service

Gender

41-50 > 50

>5 years1-2 years< 1 year

Female Male

ED INED

Bachelor PhD

MODEL CODE FOR DEALING IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions of 
the Directors. The Company has confirmed, after making specific enquiries with the Directors in accordance with the 
code of practice, that all the Directors have complied with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees 
Written Guidelines”), governing securities transactions by employees (including directors or employees of a subsidiary 
or holding company of the Company) who are likely to possess inside information of the Company and/or its securities. 
No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company 
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company 
will notify its Directors and relevant employees in advance.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 11 February 2014 with written terms of reference (updated 
and revised on 19 January 2023) in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG 
Code, which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties of the Remuneration 
Committee, under the principle that no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration, include, without 
limitation, (a) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration 
of all of the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure 
for developing remuneration policies; (b) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 
of the executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation 
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their offices or appointments, and making 
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of the non-executive Directors; and (c) reviewing and approving 
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of Dr. Wang Guiping, Mr. Huang Ruilin and Mr. Chan Kwun Nam. 
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

WORK SUMMARY OF REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

In 2023, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to review the remuneration policy and packages for all 
Directors and senior management. Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Remuneration Committee 
held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out as follows:

Attendance/
Number of

meetings
  

Dr. Wang Guiping 2/2
Mr. Huang Ruilin 2/2
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024) N/A
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024) 2/2
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The main aims of the Company’s remuneration policy are:

• to ensure that none of the Directors or any of their associates should determine their own remuneration;

• the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with which the Company competes for human 
resources;

• the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to motivate them to pursue appropriate growth 
strategies whilst take into account individual performance and should avoid paying more than necessary for 
such purpose;

• the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of duties and responsibility of the individual; 
and

• to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (come into 
effect from 1 January 2023).

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 11 February 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance 
with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and Code Provision B.3 of the CG Code, which is available on the websites 
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation, 
(a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at 
least annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Group’s 
corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting or 
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c) assessing the 
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (d) reviewing the effectiveness of the Board Diversity 
Policy; (e) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and 
succession planning for the Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive; and (f) reviewing the 
Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy to the Board. The Nomination Committee has specific written terms 
of reference which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated in CG Code. The Nomination Committee 
currently consists of Dr. Wang Guiping, Mr. Huang Ruilin and Mr. Chan Kwun Nam. Mr. Chan Kwun Nam is the 
chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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WORK SUMMARY OF NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In 2023, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and reviewed and noted, inter-alia, re-election of retiring 
Directors; the size, composition and structure of the Board; the diversity of the Board; results of annual assessment 
on effectiveness of the Board and for each of the independent non-executive Directors for the year 2022; assessment 
of independence of the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, it also reviewed and recommended to 
the Board for approval/noting: (i) the Board Diversity Policy; and (ii) the Nomination policy. Details of attendance of 
members at meeting of the Nomination Committee held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out as 
follows:

Attendance/
Number of

meetings
  

Mr. Huang Ruilin 1/1
Dr. Wang Guiping 1/1
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024) N/A
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024) 1/1
  

NOMINATION POLICY

Objectives
The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) sets out the procedures process and criteria for 
identifying and recommending candidates for election to the Board of Directors.

The Nomination Policy as adopted by the Company on 31 December 2018, aims to ensure the Board of Directors are 
equipped with the appropriate balance of skills, experience and knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate 
with the Company’s business and future development.
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Selection Criteria
The factors which are not exhaustive and decisive, listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination 
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

a. Reputation for integrity.

b. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the 
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

c. Commitment in respect of sufficient time and relevant interest.

d. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

e. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has 
the discretion to nominate and recommend any person, as it considers appropriate to the Board for further approval.

Review of the Nomination Policy
The Nomination Committee shall review and recommend to the Board on any revisions to the Nomination Policy to 
ensure its transparent and fair for the election or re-election process of directors, remains relevant to the Company 
needs and reflects the good corporate governance practice. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions 
that may be required, and recommend any such revision to the Board for consideration and approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) on 11 February 2014 with written terms of 
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and Code Provision D.3 of the CG code, which is 
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties of the Audit Committee include, 
without limitation, (a) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the 
external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of 
its resignation or dismissal; (b) monitoring integrity of the Group’s financial statements, annual report and accounts 
and half-year report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained therein; and (c) reviewing the 
Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal control systems. It also reviewed the Company’s progress 
in implementing the corporate governance requirements as set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently 
consists of Dr. Wang Guiping, Mr. Huang Ruilin and Mr. Chan Kwun Nam. Mr. Chan Kwun Nam is currently the 
chairman of the Audit Committee.
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WORK SUMMARY OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023 and had performed the following 
work:–

• reviewed the annual report and the annual results announcement of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2022;

• reviewed the interim report and the interim results announcement of the Company for the six months ended 
30 June 2023;

• reviewed the external auditors’ statutory audit plan, audit scope and engagement letters;

• reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the 2023 interim and annual audit plan, scope and 
fees;

• reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and internal control system and processes of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022; and

• reviewed the revisions to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee also met with the external auditors to discuss auditing, internal control, statutory compliance 
and financial reporting matters before recommending the financial statements to the Board for approval. There was 
no disagreement between management and the external auditors with regard to the interim and annual financial 
statements.

Details of attendance of members at meetings of the Audit Committee held during the year ended 31 December 
2023 are set out as follows:

Attendance/
Number of

meetings
  

Dr. Wang Guiping 3/3
Mr. Huang Ruilin 3/3
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024) N/A
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024) 3/3
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INVESTMENT AND TREASURY COMMITTEE

The Company established an Investment and Treasury Committee on 21 May 2019 (the “Investment and Treasury 
Committee”) with written terms of reference, which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company. The duties of the Investment and Treasury Committee include, without limitation, (a) review the accounts 
of the Company from time to time; (b) monitor and regulate investment decisions, strategies, investment plan and 
treasury activities of the Company; (c) consider and recommend to the Board any types of fund raising instruments 
and to take any steps appropriate and necessary in relation to the investment or treasury activities of the Company; 
(d) review the potential costs and returns of investments projects of the Company from time to time; (e) review the 
terms of reference and its effectiveness in the perform of its duties annually and to make recommendation to the 
Board any changes it considers necessary.

The Investment and Treasury Committee currently consists of Ms. Qin Yuanling, Dr. Wang Guiping and Mr. Chan 
Kwun Nam. Mr. Chan Kwun Nam, is the chairman of the Investment and Treasury Committee.

WORK SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT AND TREASURY COMMITTEE

In 2023, the Investment and Treasury Committee held two meetings to review the accounts, investments plans 
of the Company. It also reviewed and recommended to the Board to take the appropriate steps in relation to the 
investment and other related treasury activities of the Company. Details of attendance of members at the meeting 
of the Investment and Treasury Committee held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out as follows:

Attendance/
Number of

meetings
  

Ms. Qin Yuanling 2/2
Dr. Wang Guiping 2/2
Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024) N/A
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024) 2/2
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Company has an internal audit team which carries out the 
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and 
internal control systems and reports to the Board. The Board also ensures that the review of the effectiveness of 
these systems has been conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board’s review, which 
include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, 
and the Group’s ability to respond the changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii) the scope and 
quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has conducted its regular and annual review of the effectiveness 
of our risk management and internal control systems, in particular, the operational and financial reports, compliance 
control and risk management reports, budgets and business plans provided by the management. The Audit Committee 
of the Company also performs regular review of the Group’s performance, risk management and internal control 
systems and discusses with the Board, in order to ensure effective measures are in place to protect material assets 
and identify business risks of the Group. Such review in the year ended 31 December 2023 did not reveal any major 
issues and the Board considers our risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate. The 
Group’s review procedures involved in the risk management and internal control mainly included:

(1) A list of risks was created after the scope of risks was determined and risks were identified.

(2) The impacts brought by possible financial losses due to risks on operating efficiency, continuous development, 
and reputation were assessed with reference to possible occurrence of various potential risks and the attention 
drawn from the management of the Group, based on which the priority of the risks was determined.

(3) Our risk management measures with respect to material risks were identified, internal control over the design 
and implementation of risk management measures were assessed, and measures to improve the weaknesses 
were formulated.

(4) By assessing internal controls and management’s implementation of rectification measures with respect 
to material risks, the Group regularly reviewed and summarised the risk management and internal control 
systems to realise the efficient operation and constant improvement of risk management.

(5) The risk management handbook was formulated to address risk management and internal control, pursuant 
to which, the terms of reference of the management, the Board, and the Audit Committee with respect to 
their risk management work were clearly determined, and risk management and internal control systems 
were monitored on an ongoing basis.

(6) The management submitted reports to the Audit Committee on regular reviews and assessment results with 
respect to risk management and internal control systems, material risk factors, and the relevant counter-
measures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge that it is the responsibility of the Directors to prepare the accounts for each financial 
period. Subsequent to each reporting period, interim or annual financial highlights and business review are published 
as soon as possible (or in accordance with the Listing Rules, as the case may be) to disclose all information that 
are necessary for shareholders to assess the performance, financial conditions and prospects of the Company. The 
Directors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that might cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and therefore the Group may be unable to realise the Group’s assets and discharge 
the Group’s liabilities in the normal course of business. Details of material uncertainties are set out in note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Board has the responsibility to regularly review the internal control and risk management systems of the 
Company to ensure their effectiveness and efficiency. With the support of the internal audit team, the practices, 
processes, expenses and internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries are reviewed on a regular basis. Matters 
of importance reported by the internal audit team are monitored regularly by the management to ensure remedial 
measures are implemented as appropriate. The Board and senior management may also require the internal audit 
team to conduct auditing procedures on special scopes of importance and report significant findings to the Board 
and the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the remuneration payable for audit services provided by the auditors is approximately 
RMB700,000.

INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, 
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements inside information 
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist 
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

• The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees 
who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

• Confidentiality agreements are in place as appropriate when the Group enters into significant negotiations.

• The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the Company when communicating 
with external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions of the Company set out in Code Provision A.2 of 
the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance functions are as follows (including but not limited to):

• to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

• to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 
management;

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

• to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 
and Directors; and

• to review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and its disclosure requirements in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

The work performed by the Board on corporate governance functions during the year ended 31 December 2022 
included developing and reviewing the Company’s policies on corporate governance and reviewing the Company’s 
compliance with the Code Provisions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be 
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or 
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, and no director or other officer shall 
be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the execution 
of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company during the year.
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TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Up to 31 December 2023, the Directors complied with the Code Provision C.1.4  of the CG Code on participation in 
continuous professional training as follows:

Mode of participation
a b

   

Executive Director
Ms. Qin Yuanling ✔ ✔

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Wang Guiping ✔ ✔

Mr. Huang Ruilin ✔ ✔

Mr. Chan Kwun Nam (Appointed on 6 February 2024) N/A N/A
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan (Resigned on 6 February 2024) ✔ ✔
   

a: Directors received regular briefings and updates from the company secretary/the Company’s management on the Group’s business, operations 
and corporate governance matters.

b: Directors read technical bulletins, periodicals and other publications on subjects relevant to the Group and/or on their responsibilities and 
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lau Chi Yuen was engaged acting as the company secretary of the Company and the authorised representative 
of the Company on 31 May 2019. Mr. Lau possesses the necessary qualifications and experience as listed out in 
Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, and is capable of performing the functions of the Company Secretary. Pursuant 
to Code Provision C.6.1 of the CG Code, an issuer can engage an external service provider to provide company 
secretarial services, provided that the issuer should disclose the identity of a person with sufficient seniority at the 
issuer whom the external provider can contact.

The biographical details of Mr. Lau are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and 
Senior Management” of this annual report.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and reasonable disclosure of information 
to its shareholders. Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders in the following manner:

• delivery of the interim and annual results and reports to all Shareholders;

• publication of announcements on the interim and annual results on the Stock Exchange website, and issue 
of other announcements and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure obligations 
under the Listing Rules; and

• the general meeting of the Company is also an effective communication channel between the Board and the 
Shareholders.

The Board has maintained an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and investors of the Company, and will 
regularly review this policy to ensure its effectiveness. Information will be communicated to the Shareholders and 
investors mainly through the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual general meeting and
 other general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available all the information submitted by 
the Company to the website of the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications on the Company’s website. 
Shareholders can direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong 
Kong. Shareholders and investors may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent 
such information is publicly available.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

1. Procedure for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
Any one or more Shareholders (the “Requisitionist(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not 
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition (the “Requisition”) to the Board or the 
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called 
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The Requisition shall be made 
in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address: Room 1604, 16/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@hsihl.com
Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Requisitionist(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the 
Company, the reason(s) to convene an EGM, the agenda of the EGM including the details of the business(es) 
proposed to be transacted at the EGM, signed by the Requisitionist(s) concerned.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and the shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified 
with the Company’s branch share registrar. If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Board will 
convene the EGM within two months and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed by the Requisitionist(s) 
at the EGM after the deposit of the Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in order, 
the Requisitionist(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene an EGM 
and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the EGM.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board has not advised the Requisitionist(s) of any outcome to 
the contrary and fails to proceed to convene the EGM, the Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the 
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board 
shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

2. Procedures for raising enquiries
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the company 
secretary of the Company whose contact details are as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address: Room 1604, 16/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@hsihl.com
Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

3. Procedures and contact details for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ 
meetings
To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder should lodge a written notice 
of his/her/its proposal (“Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact information at the principal place of 
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 1604, 16/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsim Sha 
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder 
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(a) Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than twenty (20) clear business days 
in writing if the Proposal requires an ordinary resolution or a special resolution of the Company in an 
annual general meeting of the Company;

(b) Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10) clear business days in writing 
if the Proposal requires approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in an extraordinary 
general meeting of the Company; and

(c) Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10) clear business days in writing 
if the Proposal requires approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company in an extraordinary 
general meeting of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company has been adopted on 31 December 2018 which sets out the factors in 
determination of dividend payment of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”).

Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and payment of dividends shall be in accordance with the applicable laws 
and the relevant provisions of Articles of Association effective from time to time.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining an appropriate basis for dividend distribution, the 
Board will take into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings, reasonable return in investment of the investors and the 
shareholders in order to provide incentive to them to continue to support the Company in their long-term development, 
the financial conditions, business plan, future operations and earnings, capital requirement and expenditure plans 
of the Company, any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders, the general 
market sentiment and circumstances and any other factors the Board deems appropriate.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to time. There is no guarantee 
that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific periods.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The third amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the “Constitutional 
Documents”) were approved for amendment by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting 
of the Company on 30 June 2023.

The changes were mainly to conform with the core shareholder protection standards (set out in Appendix A1 to the 
Listing Rules) that applied to all listed issuers to provide the same level of protection to all investors.

A copy of the Company’s updated Constitutional Documents is available on the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUISHENG INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huisheng International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to 142, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certificated Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 4 and Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had property, plant 
and equipment of approximately RMB62,308,000 (2022: 
approximately RMB174,693,000). In view of the current 
situation including the long-term low domestic pig prices, 
the continued spread of African Swine Fever with regional 
outbreaks, the high cost of rebuilding and repairing cost of 
the disaster-stricken farms, the Group considered it was 
an indication that the property, plant and equipment of the 
slaughterhouse and breeding farms were impaired.

The management of the Group performed an impairment 
assessment on the property, plant and equipment annually 
for recoverability of its property, plant and equipment. 
An impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of 
approximately RMB59,869,000 was recognised for the 
year (2022: nil). This conclusion was based on fair value 
model that required significant management judgement 
with respect to the replacement cost of the assets, from 
which deductions are then made to allow for age, condition, 
functional obsolescence. The Group engaged an external 
valuer to perform the valuation for the recoverable amount 
of the property, plant and equipment. Independent external 
valuation was obtained in order to support management’s 
estimates. 

We focused on this area due to the use of significant 
management judgements and estimates involved in the 
impairment assessment.

Our procedure in relation to the management’s 
impairment assessment of property, plant and 
equipment included but not limited to:

• evaluating the independent valuer’s competence, 
capabilities and objectivity;

• assessing the appropr iateness of  the 
methodology, key assumptions and research 
evidence based on our knowledge of the relevant 
industry and using our valuation experts;

• chal lenging the reasonableness of key 
assumptions used based on our knowledge of 
the business and industry; and

• checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and 
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management’s judgement and 
estimates used by management for impairment 
assessment of property, plant and equipment were 
supported by the available information.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon 
(the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for 
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.



42

A
N

N
U

A
L R

E
P

O
R

T
 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Fong Ka Yiu.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Ka Yiu
Practicing Certificate Number: P08080 

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Revenue 6 68,297 72,947
Cost of sales (68,159) (71,106)    

Gross profit 138 1,841
Other income 6 10,399 11,362
Other gain or loss, net 8 (270) (3,494)
(Loss)/gain arising from change in fair value of financial assets 
　at fair value through profit or loss 10 (701) 292
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment 10 (59,869) –

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 10 (57,414) –

(Allowance for)/reversal of expected credit losses, 
　net (24,487) 484
Selling and distribution expenses (53) (81)
Administrative expenses (14,678) (19,361)    

Loss before taxation (146,935) (8,957)
Taxation 9 (3,347) –    

Loss for the year 10 (150,282) (8,957)    

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year:
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
　other comprehensive income 1,760 (230)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 233 (3,972)    

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, 
　net of income tax 1,993 (4,202)    

Total comprehensive expense for the year (148,289) (13,159)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Loss for the year attributable to:
　Owners of the Company (144,372) (5,645)
　Non-controlling interests (5,910) (3,312)    

(150,282) (8,957)    

Total comprehensive expense attributable to:
　Owners of the Company (142,695) (9,767)
　Non-controlling interests (5,594) (3,392)    

(148,289) (13,159)    

Loss per share attributable to owners of the Company
　Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) 13 (16.39) (0.64)

    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current assets
　Property, plant and equipment 15 62,308 174,693
　Right-of-use assets 16 8,967 9,288
　Investment property 17 – 10,900
　Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
　　income 20 2,400 640    

73,675 195,521    

Current assets
　Inventories 19 – 2,110
　Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 4,541 5,155
　Trade receivables 22 16,936 11,142
　Loan receivables 23 – 2,860
　Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 23 2,489 18,335
　Bank balances and cash 24 389,836 416,389    

413,802 455,991    

Current liabilities
　Trade payables 25 12,072 6,556
　Accruals and other payables 26 58,413 74,290
　Lease liabilities 27 1 –

　Deferred revenue 28 25 25
　Tax payable – 9,360    

70,511 90,231    

Net current assets 343,291 365,760    

Total assets less current liabilities 416,966 561,281    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current liabilities
　Lease liabilities 27 101 102
　Deferred revenue 28 177 202    

278 304    

Net assets 416,688 560,977    

Equity
　Share capital 29 7,308 7,308
　Reserves 413,580 556,275    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 420,888 563,583
Non-controlling interests (4,200) (2,606)    

Total equity 416,688 560,977
    

Approved by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Qin Yuanling Chan Kwun Nam
Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Exchange 
reserve

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve
Revaluation 

reserve

Retained 
earnings/

(accumulated 
losses)

Equity 
attributable 

to owners 
of the 

Company

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note (a)) (note (b))
            

As at 1 January 2022 7,308 445,247 8,189 43,233 16,329 2,416 (630) 51,258 573,350 786 574,136

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (5,645) (5,645) (3,312) (8,957)
Other comprehensive 
　expense for the year – – (3,892) – – – (230) – (4,122) (80) (4,202)            

Total comprehensive 
　expense for 
　the year – – (3,892) – – – (230) (5,645) (9,767) (3,392) (13,159)            

As at 31 December 2022 
　and 1 January 2023 7,308 445,247 4,297 43,233 16,329 2,416 (860) 45,613 563,583 (2,606) 560,977            

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (144,372) (144,372) (5,910) (150,282)
Other comprehensive 
　(expense)/income 
　for the year – – (83) – – – 1,760 – 1,677 316 1,993            

Total comprehensive 
　(expense)/income 
　for the year – – (83) – – – 1,760 (144,372) (142,695) (5,594) (148,289)
Capital injection from non-
　controlling interests 
　of subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 4,000 4,000            

As at 31 December 2023 7,308 445,247 4,214 43,233 16,329 2,416 900 (98,759) 420,888 (4,200) 416,688
            

Notes:

(a) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the 
Company’s PRC subsidiary is required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation to such reserve is made out of net profit 
after taxation as reflected in the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiary in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations 
applicable to the PRC enterprise. The appropriation may cease to apply if the balance of statutory surplus reserve has reached 50% of the 
PRC subsidiary registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied 
in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

(b) Other reserve represents the capital contributions from the owners of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group before the completion of 
the reorganisation on 10 November 2011.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (146,935) (8,957)
Adjustments for:
Interest income 6 (1,526) (1,304)
Amortisation of deferred revenue 6 (25) (25)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 9,661 9,050
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10 265 262
Depreciation of investment property 10 400 800
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment 10 59,869 –

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 10 57,414 –

Write-down of inventories 8 4,777 3,107
Loss/(gain) arising from change in fair value of financial assets 
　at fair value through profit or loss 10 701 (292)
Loss on disposal of biological assets 8, 18 13,141 387
Compensation on early termination of leases 8 (893) –

Allowance for/(reversal of) expected credit losses, net 24,487 (484)    

Operating cash flows before movements in 
　working capital 21,336 2,544
Increase in inventories (2,667) (1,891)
Increase in biological assets (13,141) –

Decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 817
Increase in trade receivables (12,283) (7,218)
Decrease in loan receivables 394 251,143
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 994 36,656
Increase in trade payables 5,872 3,173
Decrease in accruals and other payables (16,056) (1,132)    

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (15,551) 284,092

Interest received 27 173
PRC tax paid (12,707) –    

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (28,231) 284,265    

Investing activities
Interest received 6 1,189 640
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (216) –    

Net cash generated from investing activities 973 640    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (27,258) 284,905

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 416,389 131,581
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 705 (97)    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 389,836 416,389
    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Huisheng International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment holding company incorporated 
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands, whose registered office is located 
at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1–1111, Cayman Islands. Its principal 
place of business in Hong Kong is at Room 1604, 16/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the production and 
sale of daily consumption pork and related meat food products for domestic market in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”), selling and distributing of pipe system products, and conducting in the provision of 
technical advisory services on the design, application, implementation and installation.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”). The functional currency of the 
Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The directors of the Company considered that it is more appropriate 
to present the consolidated financial statements in RMB as the functional currency of the most principal 
operating subsidiaries of the Group is RMB. The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands 
(“RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year, which are mandatorily 
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 
　and February 2022 Amendments to 
　HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 
　HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

　Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRS Standards in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been Issued but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but 
are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
　HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
　Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
　related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have 
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective 
term that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. For the 
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such 
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary user. In addition, the consolidated 
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments and biological assets that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, 
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair 
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial statements is determined on 
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based 
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that 
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories 
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs 
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at 
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Material Accounting Policy Information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not 
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 
patterns at previous shareholders’ meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date of the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which 
represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the 
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components 
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests 
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries (Continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non- controlling 
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary 
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in 
an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations
A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an input and a substantive process 
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered 
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce 
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they significantly 
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be 
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in 
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition 
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or after 1 January 2023, the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for 
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a 
business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their 
fair value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting 
policy below);

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard; and

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as 
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases 
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset 
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant 
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with 
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as 
at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair 
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value.



For the year ended 31 December 2023

H
U

IS
H

E
N

G
 IN

T
E

R
N

A
T

IO
N

A
L H

O
LD

IN
G

S
 LIM

IT
E

D

57

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent consideration 
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as 
part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement 
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement 
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period 
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to 
fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), 
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as 
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously 
been recognised in other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on 
the same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see 
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts 
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised at that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 
the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”) (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent 
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than 
an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)
A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a 
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets 
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of 
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes 
of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is 
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the 
CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

Revenue from contract with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 
as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Revenue from contract with customers (Continued)
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good 
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the 
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance 
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only 
the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for an presented on a 
net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction price)
For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price 
to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation is 
determined at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or 
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it 
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation 
reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
the promised goods or services to the customer.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major source which was recognised over the terms of the 
contracts as the work is performed:

(i) Sales of pork products
Revenue is recognised when pork products are delivered, hogs are slaughtered at the customers’ 
premises which are taken to be the point in time when the customer accepts and takes the control 
of the products. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any 
trade discounts.

(ii) Sales of pipe system products
Revenue is recognised when pipe system products are delivered at the customers’ premises which 
are taken to be the point in time when the customer accepts and takes the control of the products. 
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contain, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations on or after the date of initial 
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed 
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the 61 relative 
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, 
and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease 
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of office premises and equipment 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short- 
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another 
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
the terms and conditions of the lease.



For the year ended 31 December 2023

H
U

IS
H

E
N

G
 IN

T
E

R
N

A
T

IO
N

A
L H

O
LD

IN
G

S
 LIM

IT
E

D

61

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from 
Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. 
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property as a separate 
line item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of 
investment property are presented within “investment property”.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially 
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease 
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present 
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in 
the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments include:

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at 
the commencement date;

• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 
terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, 
in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review 
or expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group 
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying 
assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price 
for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the 
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, 
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)
The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the 
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the 
non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions
In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group 
has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all 
of the following conditions are met:

• the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the 
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

• any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

• there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent 
concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a 
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. 
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding 
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to 
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries outside the PRC is Hong Kong dollars. The 
functional currency of the PRC subsidiary is RMB. The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB 
which is the Group’s presentation currency. This is also the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Group operates. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of 
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component 
of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item 
is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case 
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange 
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or 
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal 
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained 
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that 
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not 
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange 
differences are reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other 
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing 
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences are 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net assets in HK$ to the Group’s presentation 
currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange 
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or 
loss subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a 
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is 
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

An unconditional government grant related to the processing of ill hogs shall be recognised in profit or loss 
when, and only when, the government grant becomes receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Government grants (Continued)
Other government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Group recognised the related costs as expenses for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position 
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented 
under “Other income“.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, 
measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing 
market interest rates.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible 
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic 
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as they become payable 
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from 
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully 
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group participate 
in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial 
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the employees are required to make monthly contributions 
to these plans calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceiling. The municipal 
and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future 
retired PRC based employees payable under the plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions, 
the Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its 
employees. The assets of these plans are held separately from the subsidiary in an independent fund managed 
by the PRC government.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected 
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it 
is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the negative 
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been 
vested with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be 
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an 
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and 
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service 
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS 
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase 
in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the 
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non- market vesting 
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that 
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option 
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options 
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred 
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the 
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Share options granted to consultants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair 
value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which 
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity 
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services received 
are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the reporting period. Taxable profit differs from loss 
before taxation as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from 
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not 
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are 
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies 
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. The Group 
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability 
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity 
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred 
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting 
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost, less accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, 
if any.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production 
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. 
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when 
completed and ready for intended use. Sale proceeds of items that are produced while bringing an item of 
property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management (such as samples produced when testing whether the asset is functioning 
properly), and the related costs of producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost of 
those items are measured in accordance with the measurement requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of 
these assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use and depreciates on the same 
basis as other property assets.

If the owner-occupied property (including the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) becomes 
an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, they do not 
change the carrying amount of the property transferred and the cost of that property for measurement or 
disclosure purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land 
and building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building 
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the 
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating 
lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the 
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the 
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than construction in progress, less their 
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives, after taking into account of their residual value, on a straight-line basis at the following rates 
per annum:

Buildings 6.22%–8.63%
Plant and machinery 9.50%
Motor vehicles 24%
Furniture, fixture and equipment 19%–31.67%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

Investment property
An Investment property is a property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

An Investment property is initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment 
property over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, 
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased property 
which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies 
the sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or 
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Biological assets
Hogs, including breeder hogs and porkers, are measured on initial recognition and at the end of each reporting 
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with a resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the 
year in which it arises. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, 
mainly transportation cost and excluding finance costs and income taxes. The fair value of hogs is determined 
based on its present location and condition and is determined independently by professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including utilities cost and consumables incurred for raising of 
hogs are capitalised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment property
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and investment property to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment property are 
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is 
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the 
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or 
a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of 
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares 
the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion 
of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In 
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of 
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of 
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other 
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment property (Continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of 
CGUs) is increased to the revised estimated of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on 
a weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less 
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale 
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must 
incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits 
held at call with banks.

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject 
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months 
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of 
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
cash equivalents as defined above and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising 
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value 
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the financial assets and shareholders’ rights are presented 
as other income.

Financial assets
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling 
and collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in 
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither 
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to 
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at 
the amortised cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit- 
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost 
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the 
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI
Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss 
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred 
to retained profits

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the 
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery 
of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit 
or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or 
designated as FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair 
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and present as a separate line item.

(ii) Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including trade receivables, deposits paid, other receivables, loan receivables and cash and bank 
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated 
at each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime 
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current 
conditions at the reporting period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group 
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on 
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting period with the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this 
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) 
or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in 
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable 
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset 
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; 
or

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit 
losses.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the 
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 1 year past due, whichever occurs sooner. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition 
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation 
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective 
risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on 
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Liftetime ECL for trade receivables, loan receivables and other receivables are considered on a collective 
basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward 
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when 
formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue 
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost 
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, deposits paid, other receivables and 
loan receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues 
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition 
to measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve 
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise 
modified.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate 
benchmark reform in which the Group applies the practical expedient, when the contractual terms of 
a financial asset are modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial 
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances including 
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are 
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including 
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at 
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original 
financial asset, after reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not result in derecognition, the carrying 
amount of the relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual 
cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees 
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are amortised over 
the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit 
or loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) 
Financial liabilities and equity 
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and other payables, lease liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group 
or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of the person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources and 
obligations between related party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Contingent assets/liabilities
Contingent assets
Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an 
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
The Group assesses continually the development of contingent assets. If it has become virtually certain 
that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related income in the 
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events but is not recognised because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected 
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required for 
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements in the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare 
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money 
is material).

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the steering committee that 
makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment property are stated at costs less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the 
Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event 
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an 
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be 
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the property, plant and 
equipment, right-of-use assets and investment property is based on the higher of its value in use and 
its fair value less cost of disposal.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets 
and investment property subject to impairment assessment were RMB62,308,000, RMB8,967,000 
and RMB nil (2022: RMB174,693,000, RMB9,288,000 and RMB10,900,000) respectively, after taking 
into account the impairment losses of RMB59,869,000, RMB nil and RMB nil (2022: RMB nil, RMB nil 
and RMB nil) in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment property 
that have been recognised respectively. Details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment 
are disclosed in Note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Provision of ECL for financial assets at amortised cost
The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the 
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as 
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions 
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5(b).

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments
As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s financial assets, unlisted equity instruments amounting 
to approximately RMB2,400,000 (2022: approximately RMB640,000) are measured at fair value with fair 
value being determined based on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement 
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs 
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material adjustments to the fair 
value of these instruments. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Financial assets

Amortised cost
　–  Trade receivables 16,936 11,142
　–  Loan receivables – 2,860
　–  Other receivables and deposits 1,074 16,675
　–  Bank balances and cash 389,836 416,389   

407,846 447,066
Financial assets at FVPL 4,541 5,155
Financial assets at FVOCI 2,400 640   

414,787 452,861
   

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost
　–  Trade payables 12,072 6,556
　–  Accruals and other payables 58,413 74,290
　–  Lease liabilities 102 102   

70,587 80,948
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
The directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through 
internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include 
market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk, business risk 
and liquidity risk.

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, loan receivables, other receivables 
and deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVPL, financial assets at FVOCI, trade 
payables, accruals and other payables and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments and 
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management monitors and manages 
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk
As most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB and the Group conducts 
its business transactions principally in RMB, the currency risk of the Group is not significant and the 
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors 
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should 
the need arise.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, since the currency risk is minimal, no sensitivity analysis 
is presented.

Interest rate risk
The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets 
and liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rates except for deposits held in the banks. 
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposits rates during the year. 
Any change in the interest rate promulgated by banks from time to time is not considered to have 
significant impact to the Group.

The Group monitors the interest rate exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts the portfolio of bank 
saving balances where necessary.

Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity securities measured at 
FVPL during the reporting period. The management of the Group manages this exposure by maintaining 
a portfolio of investment with different risks.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at 
the reporting date.

If market prices of equity investments have been 5% (2022: 5%) higher/lower, loss after tax for 
the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/increase by approximately RMB188,000 (2022: 
RMB215,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of investments at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from bank balances and deposits, trade receivables, loan 
receivables, other receivables and deposits. The carrying amounts of these balances represent the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are 
reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected 
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be close to zero and no provision was made as of 31 
December 2023 and 2022.

In respect of trade receivables, ECLs are recognised under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 
on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. The management has delegated a team 
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to 
ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management reviews the 
recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment 
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group assessed its trade receivables individually, for 
significant balances and credit-impaired balances, and/or collectively based on the aging analysis of 
trade receivables. Significant and/or credit-impaired trade receivables balances are assessed individually 
by considering the aging, repayment history and/or past due status of respective trade receivables.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable 
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and 
forward-looking information.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual customers in relation to hog slaughtering, 
sale of pork products and sale of pipe system products. The Group’s trade receivables arise from hog 
breeding, hog slaughtering, sale of pork products and sale of pipe system products to the customers. 
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the top three debtors and the largest debtor accounted for 
approximately 56.8% and 38.6% (2022: approximately 55.3% and 29.8%) of the Group’s gross trade 
receivables balance. In view of the history of business dealings with the debtors and the sound 
collection history of the receivables due from them, the management believes that there is no material 
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors saved for 
the debtor related to the impaired trade receivable disclosed below. The management makes periodic 
assessments on the recoverability of the trade receivables based on historical payment records, the 
length of overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are any disputes 
with the debtors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. 
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current 
ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the 
economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 90 days from 
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does indicate significantly different loss patterns for 
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is further distinguished 
between the Group’s different customer bases in PRC and Japan.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Expected 
loss rate

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000
    

As at 31 December 2023
Current (not past due) 22.8% 20,216 4,616
Less than 90 days past due 54.7% 2,950 1,614
Over 90 days and less than 1 year past due 100.0% 567 567
More than 1 year past due 100.0% 6,328 6,328    

30,061 13,125
    

As at 31 December 2022
Current (not past due) 1.3% 4,445 57
Less than 90 days past due 11.5% 3,366 388
Over 90 days and less than 1 year past due 15.1% 4,449 673
More than 1 year past due 100.0% 6,155 6,155    

18,415 7,273
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that have been recognised for trade 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Lifetime 
ECL 

(not credit- 
impaired)

Lifetime 
ECL 

(credit- 
impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Trade receivables
At 1 January 2022 144 – 144
　–  Impairment loss recognised 1,073 5,927 7,000
　–  Impairment loss reversed (27) – (27)
Exchange realignment (73) 229 156    

At 31 December 2022 and
　1 January 2023 1,117 6,156 7,273
　–  Transfer to credit-impaired (150) 150 –

　–  Impairment loss recognised 5,263 1,601 6,864
　–  Impairment loss reversed (111) (504) (615)
Exchange realignment – (397) (397)    

At 31 December 2023 6,119 7,006 13,125
    

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided net amount of approximately 
RMB6,249,000 (2022: RMB6,973,000) impairment allowance for trade receivables, based on collective 
assessment. Impairment allowance of approximately RMB1,601,000 (2022: RMB5,927,000) were made 
on credit-impaired debtors due to the Group considered an event of default occurred.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to 
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period 
greater than 1 year past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
In respect of loan receivables, deposits and other receivables, ECLs are recognised in three stages. For 
credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For loan receivables and other receivables relating to accounts that are long overdue with significant 
amounts, known insolvencies or non-response to collection activities, they are assessed individually 
for impairment allowance. The Group recognised the provision for expected credit losses by assessing 
the credit risk characteristics of debtor, discount rate and the likelihood of recovery and considering 
the prevailing economic conditions.

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and existing clients before 
standard payment terms and conditions are offered. If there is no independent rating, the Group 
assesses the credit quality of the customer based on the customer’s financial position, past experience 
and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on the internal or external ratings in accordance 
with limits set by the directors. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

The Group reviews the recoverable amounts of individual debts at the end of each reporting period to 
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loss 
allowance is determined for each of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning 
the Group’s ECL model is as follows:

Category Company definition of category
Basis for recognition of 
loss allowance

   

Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in 
line with original expectations

12-month expected losses. Where 
the expected lifetime of an asset 
is less than 12 months, expected 
losses are measured at its 
Lifetime ECL (stage 1)

Under-performing Receivables for which a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred 
compared to original expectations; 
a significant increase in credit 
risk is presumed if interest and/or 
principal repayments are 30 days 
past due

Lifetime ECL (stage 2)

Non-performing 
　(credit-impaired)

Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 90 days past due 
or it becomes probable a customer 
will enter bankruptcy

Lifetime ECL (stage 3)

Write-off Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 1 year past 
due and there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery

Amount is written off
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The loss allowance for loan receivables and other receivables and deposits as at 31 December 2023 
and 2022 was determined as follows:

2023 2022

Loan receivables

Non-
performing 

(credit-
impaired) Total Performing Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Expected loss rate 100% 3.5%
Gross carrying amount 2,621 2,621 2,965 2,965     

Loss allowance 2,621 2,621 105 105
     

2023 2022

Other receivables and deposits Performing

Non-
performing 

(credit-
impaired) Total Performing Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Expected loss rate 4.2% 100% 2.1%
Gross carrying amount 1,121 15,860 16,981 17,040 17,040      

Loss allowance 47 15,860 15,907 365 365
      

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating 
the ECL rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of customers. No significant 
changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during the reporting period.

Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the long overdue balance of other receivables and 
deposits, the Group has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is higher risk 
that could led to increased credit default rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The following tables show the movement of allowances for ECL of loan receivables and other receivables 
and deposits as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

12m ECL

Lifetime 
ECL 

(credit- 
impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Loan receivables
At 1 January 2022 2,853 – 2,853
　–  Impairment losses recognised 80 – 80
　–  Impairment losses reversed (2,835) – (2,835)
Exchange realignment 7 – 7    

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 105 – 105
　–  Transfer to credit-impaired (95) 95 –

　–  Impairment losses recognised – 2,499 2,499
　–  Impairment losses reversed (10) – (10)
Exchange realignment – 27 27    

At 31 December 2023 – 2,621 2,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit-

impaired) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Other receivables and deposits
At 1 January 2022 453 4,620 5,073
　–  Impairment losses recognised 165 – 165
　–  Impairment losses reversed (247) (4,620) (4,867)
Exchange realignment (6) – (6)    

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 365 – 365
　–  Transfer to credit-impaired (365) 365 –

　–  Impairment losses recognised 47 15,702 15,749
Exchange realignment – (207) (207)    

At 31 December 2023 47 15,860 15,907
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Business risk
The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in equity price risk through its investments 
in equity securities measured at FVPL and FVOCI, the changes in prices of hogs, the change in cost 
and supply of feed ingredients and the change in prices of pipe system products, all of which are 
determined by constantly changing market forces of supply and demand, and other factors. The other 
factors include environmental regulations, weather conditions and animal diseases. The Group has 
little or no control over these conditions and factors.

For equity securities measured at FVPL quoted in the Stock Exchange, the management of the Group 
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition, the 
Group also invested in certain unquoted equity securities for investee operating in supply of feed 
ingredients sector for long term strategic purposes which had been designated as FVOCI.

The Group is subject to risks relating to its ability to maintain animal health status.

Livestock health problems (e.g. African Swine Fever (“ASF”)) could adversely impact production 
and consumer confidence. The Group monitors the health of its livestock on a regular basis and 
has procedures in place to reduce potential exposure to infectious diseases. Although policies and 
procedures have been put into place, there is no guarantee that the Group will not be affected by 
epidemic diseases.

Save for the procurement of breeder hogs, the Group manages its exposure to fluctuation in the price 
of the key raw materials used in the operations by maintaining a large number of suppliers so as to 
limit high concentration in a particular supplier.

Liquidity risk
The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a substantial portion of its financial assets and financial 
liabilities are due within one year and it can finance its operations from existing shareholders’ funds 
and internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and 
cash deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effect 
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of borrowings 
on a regular basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date 
on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

On demand 
or within 
one year

More than 
one year 
but less 

than two 
years

More than 
two years 

but less 
than five 

years
Over five 

years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying 
amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

As at 31 December 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables – 12,072 – – – 12,072 12,072
Accruals and other payables – 58,413 – – – 58,413 58,413
Lease liabilities 9.59 1 114 – 116 231 102        

70,486 114 – 116 70,716 70,587
        

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

On demand 
or within 
one year

More than 
one year 
but less 

than two 
years

More than 
two years 

but less 
than five 

years
Over five 

years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying 
amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

As at 31 December 2022

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables – 6,556 – – – 6,556 6,556
Accruals and other payables – 74,290 – – – 74,290 74,290
Lease liabilities 9.59 – 115 – 116 231 102        

80,846 115 – 116 81,077 80,948
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value
(i) Fair value hierarchy

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurements in its entirety.

The table below analyses the fair value of the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis. The different levels are defined as follows:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include 
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

As at 31 December 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Financial assets at FVPL 4,541 – – 4,541
Financial assets at FVOCI – – 2,400 2,400     

4,541 – 2,400 6,941
     

As at 31 December 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Financial assets at FVPL 5,155 – – 5,155
Financial assets at FVOCI – – 640 640     

5,155 – 640 5,795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Financial assets Fair value as at
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable input(s)

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Listed equity securities 
　in HK

4,541 5,155 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an 
　active market

N/A

Private equity 
　investments at FVOCI

2,400 640 Level 3 2023: Market approach 
　– EV/LTM EBIT 
　　　Multiple 
(2022: Market approach 
　– Median of EV/EBIT 
　　　ratio – PB ratio) 
　　　(note (c))

Discount for lack of 
　marketability of 15.7% 
　(2022: 42.9%) (note (a))
EV/EBIT Multiple of 7.9
　(2022: N/A) (note (b))

      

Notes:

(a) A slight increase in the discount for lack of marketability used in isolation would result in a slight decrease in the 
fair value measurement of the private equity investments at FVOCI, and vice versa. A 2% (2022: 2%) increase in 
the discount for lack of marketability holding all other variables constant would decrease the carrying amount of 
private equity investments at FVOCI by approximately RMB10,000 (2022: approximately RMB22,000).

(b) A slight decrease in the EV/EBIT multiple used in isolation would result in a slight decrease in the fair value 
measurement of the private equity investments at FVOCI, and vice versa. A 2% decrease in the EV/EBIT multiple 
holding all other variables constant would decrease the carrying amount of private equity investments at FVOCI 
by approximately RMB30,000.

(c) There has been a change in valuation metrics of private equity investments at FVOCI from use of Enterprise Value 
to Earnings before Interest and Taxes ratio (“EV/EBIT Ratio”) and price-to-book ratio (“PB ratio”) to Enterprise Value 
to Last Twelve Months Operating Earnings before Interest and Taxes (“EV/LTM EBIT”) multiple. The management 
of the Group is considered EV/LTM EBIT multiple more appropriate for the valuation since it reflects the significant 
business and profitability of the entity.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and transfers into Level 3 during both years.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair 
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Financial assets 
at FVOCI
RMB’000

  

At 1 January 2022 870

Total loss:
– in other comprehensive expense (230)  

At 31 December 2022 640
Total gain:
– in other comprehensive income 1,760  

At 31 December 2023 2,400
  

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of gain of approximately RMB1,760,000 
(2022: loss of approximately RMB230,000) relating to unlisted equity securities classified as 
equity instruments at FVOCI held at the end of the current reporting period and is reported as 
changes of revaluation reserve.

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

The reconciliation of revenue from contracts with customers for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022 is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue from contracts with customers
Recognition at a point in time
　Sale of pork products 65,242 65,851
　Sale of pipe system products 3,055 7,096   

68,297 72,947
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Other income
Interest income on:
　Bank deposits 1,189 640
　Loan receivables 337 664   

Total interest income 1,526 1,304
Amortisation of deferred revenue 25 25
Rental income 8,289 7,817
Government grants (note) – 1,043
Refund of Japan consumption tax – 437
Recovery of trade receivables previously written-off 537 637
Sundry income 22 99   

10,399 11,362
   

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no government grants were recognised in respect of subsidies and awards from local government 
authorities for the Group’s contribution to the development of the local economies (2022: RMB987,000) and in respect of funding support 
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Antiepidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government (2022: RMB56,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers (“CODMs”), being the executive directors of the 
Company, in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance.

The Group is principally engaged in slaughtering and trading of pork products, and pipe system products. 

The two reportable segments of the Group under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(a) Slaughtering and trading of pork products – slaughtering and trading of pork products

(b) Pipe system products – selling and distributing of pipe system products, and conducting in the provision 
of technical advisory services on the design, application, implementation and installation

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segments:

Slaughtering 
and trading of 
pork products

Pipe system 
products Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Year ended 31 December 2023
Segment revenue 65,242 3,055 68,297    

Segment results (121,895) (18,381) (140,276)   

Loss arising from change in fair value of 
　financial assets at fair value through profit 
　or loss (701)
Allowance for expected credit 
　losses, net (3,033)
Unallocated corporate income 358
Unallocated corporate expenses (3,283)    

Loss before taxation (146,935)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Slaughtering 
and trading of 
pork products

Pipe system 
products Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Year ended 31 December 2022
Segment revenue 65,851 7,096 72,947    

Segment results 4,242 (11,041) (6,799)   

Gain arising from change in fair value of 
　financial assets at fair value through profit 
　or loss 292
Reversal of expected credit 
　losses, net 2,766
Unallocated corporate income 1,299
Unallocated corporate expenses (6,515)    

Loss before taxation (8,957)
    

Segment results represent the profit earned by or loss from each segment without allocation of gain/(loss) 
arising from change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, (allowance for)/reversal 
of expected credit losses, net, unallocated corporate income and unallocated corporate expenses. This is 
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no 
inter-segment sales in both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

Slaughtering and 
trading of pork 

products
Pipe system 

products Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At 31 December 2023
Segment assets 480,894 153 481,047    

Segment liabilities (41,025) (12,428) (53,453)
    

Slaughtering and 
trading of pork 

products
Pipe system 

products Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At 31 December 2022
Segment assets 622,148 18,527 640,675    

Segment liabilities (23,399) (12,367) (35,766)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segments’ assets and liabilities:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments 481,047 640,675
Unallocated and other corporate assets:
　Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,541 5,155
　Loan receivables – 2,860
　Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,242 1,287
　Bank balances and cash 647 1,535   

Consolidated total assets 487,477 651,512
   

Liabilities
Total liabilities of reportable segments 53,453 35,766
Unallocated and other corporate liabilities:
　Accruals and other payables 17,336 45,409
　Tax payable – 9,360   

Consolidated total liabilities 70,789 90,535
   

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other than unallocated and other corporate assets (mainly 
comprising financial assets at fair value through profit of loss, loan receivables, prepayments, deposits 
and other receivables and bank balances and cash); and

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than unallocated and other corporate liabilities 
(mainly comprising accruals and other payables and tax payable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

Slaughtering 
and trading of 
pork products

Pipe system 
products Unallocated Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Year ended 31 December 2023
Amounts included in the measure of 
　segment profit or loss or segment 
　assets:
Depreciation of property, plant and 
　equipment 9,661 – – 9,661
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 265 – – 265
Depreciation of investment property 400 – – 400
Write-down of inventories – 4,777 – 4,777
Write-off of property, plant and 
　equipment 57,414 – – 57,414
Impairment loss of property, plant and 
　equipment 59,869 – – 59,869
Allowance for expected credit losses, net 8,878 12,576 3,033 24,487

     

Slaughtering 
and trading of 
pork products

Pipe system 
products Unallocated Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Year ended 31 December 2022
Amounts included in the measure of 
　segment profit or loss or segment 
　assets:
Depreciation of property, plant and 
　equipment 9,050 – – 9,050
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 262 – – 262
Depreciation of investment property 800 – – 800
Write-down of inventories – 3,107 – 3,107
(Reversal of)/allowance for 
　expected credit losses, net (3,652) 5,934 (2,766) (484)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from major products and services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and services:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Slaughtering and trading of pork products 65,242 65,851
Pipe system products 3,055 7,096   

68,297 72,947
   

Information about geographical areas
During the year, the Group was mainly operating in the PRC and Japan (2022: PRC and Japan). The Group’s 
revenue from external customers based on the location of the operation by geographical location are presented 
below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue
– The PRC 65,242 65,851
– Japan 3,055 7,096   

68,297 72,947
   

The Group’s non-current assets are principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is the PRC. 
Accordingly, no further geographical segment information is presented.

The Group’s geographical concentration risk is mainly in the PRC and Japan, which accounted for 95.5% (2022: 
90.3%) and 4.5% (2022: 9.7%) of the total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2023 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue generated from four (2022: five) customers of the Group which 
have individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s total revenue. No other single customer contributed 
10% or more to the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Revenue from major customer, which contribute to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Customer A from slaughtering and trading of pork products (note) 7,653 N/A
Customer B from slaughtering and trading of pork products (note) 7,534 N/A
Customer C from slaughtering and trading of pork products 7,620 11,572
Customer D from slaughtering and trading of pork products 6,920 10,512
Customer E from slaughtering and trading of pork products (note) N/A 8,949
Customer F from slaughtering and trading of pork products (note) N/A 8,297
Customer G from slaughtering and trading of pork products (note) N/A 9,798

   

Note:

The revenue contributed by Customer E, Customer F and Customer G during the year ended 31 December 2023 and Customer A and 
Customer B during the year ended 31 December 2022 was less than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

8. OTHER GAIN OR LOSS, NET

An analysis of the Group’s other gain or loss for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Loss on disposal of biological assets (Note 18) (13,141) (387)
Write-off of other payables 16,755 –

Write-down of inventories (4,777) (3,107)
Compensation on early termination of leases 893 –   

(270) (3,494)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. TAXATION

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Current tax – Japan
　Charge for the year – –

Current tax – PRC
　Charge for the year – –

Under provision in prior years – PRC 3,347 –   

Income tax charge 3,347 –
   

Hong Kong
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of 
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The 
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed 
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 
8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable 
profits above HK$2 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. TAXATION (Continued)

PRC
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “PRC EIT”) is calculated at the applicable tax rates in accordance with 
the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC.

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, 
the tax rate of a PRC subsidiary is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Meat processing of primary produce is on the list of The Range of Processing of Primary Agricultural Produces 
to Be Given Preferential Enterprise Income Tax Treatment (Trial Implementation) (2008 version) (享受企業
所得稅優惠政策的農產品初加工範圍(試行) (2008年版)) promulgated by the Ministry of Finance (財政部) and 
the State Administration of Taxation (國家稅務總局) on 20 November 2008. Hunan Huisheng Meat Products 
Company Limited (“Hunan Huisheng”) (湖南惠生肉業有限公司) meets the required standard for preferential 
PRC EIT treatment.

According to the prevailing tax rules and regulations, Hunan Huisheng is operating in the business of primary 
processing of agricultural products was exempted from the PRC EIT during the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

According to the prevailing tax rules and regulations, the Group is operating in agricultural business, which is 
exempted from the PRC EIT, and no deferred taxation impact was considered for each of the reporting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. TAXATION (Continued)

Japan
Japan corporate income tax has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 
December 2023 at the rates of taxations prevailing in Japan in which the Group operates. The Group is subject 
to national corporate income tax, inhabitant tax, and enterprise tax in Japan, which in aggregate, resulted in 
effective statutory income tax rates of approximately 30.6% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 
30.6%).

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Loss before taxation (146,935) (8,957)   

Tax at the applicable income tax rate (37,201) (2,458)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (134) (256)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 40,100 1,693
Temporary difference not recognised (3,850) 245
Under provision in respect of prior years 3,347 –

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 1,085 776   

Income tax expenses 3,347 –
   

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets 
in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB39,597,000 (2022: approximately RMB33,020,000) 
as it is not probable that the future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available 
in relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Directors’ emoluments (Note 11):
　Directors’ fee 601 281
　Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 46 283
　Retirement scheme contributions – 8   

647 572

Other staff costs:
　Salaries and other benefits 1,709 1,943
　Retirement scheme contributions 114 188   

Total staff costs 2,470 2,703   

Auditors’ remuneration
　–  Audit service 700 800
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 9,661 9,050
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) 265 262
Depreciation of investment property (Note 17) 400 800
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 65,172 68,676
Write-down of inventories 4,777 3,107
Write-off of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 57,414 –

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 59,869 –

Allowance for/(reversal of) expected credit loss, net 24,487 (484)

An analysis of the gain arising from change in fair value of 
　financial assets at FVPL classified as held for trading 
　investments is as follows:
Realised loss on disposal of financial assets at FVPL – 47
Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial assets at FVPL 701 (339)   

701 (292)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c), and 
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about 
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Directors’ fees 601 281   

Other emoluments:
　Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 46 283
　Retirement scheme contributions – 8   

46 291   

647 572
   

Details for the emoluments of each director of the Company during the reporting period are as follows:

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

2023
Executive director:
Ms. Qin Yuanling 285 46 – 331

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan 108 – – 108
Dr. Wang Guiping 104 – – 104
Mr. Huang Ruilin (note (c)) 104 – – 104     

601 46 – 647
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

2022
Executive directors:
Mr. Chan Chi Ching (note (a)) – 154 8 162
Ms. Qin Yuanling – 129 – 129

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel (note (b)) 51 – – 51
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun, Alan 103 – – 103
Mr. Chan Hin Hang (note (b)) 52 – – 52
Dr. Wang Guiping 52 – – 52
Mr. Huang Ruilin (note (c)) 23 – – 23     

281 283 8 572
     

Notes:

(a) Mr. Chan Chi Ching retired as an executive director of the Company on 30 June 2022.

(b) Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel and Mr. Chan Hin Hang retired as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 30 June 
2022.

(c) Mr. Huang Ruilin was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 18 August 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown were mainly for their service in connection with the management 
of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown was mainly for their services as directors of 
the Company.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received and receivable from the Group by these 
directors in their capacity as employees to the Group and/or in their capacity as directors of the Company 
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively. None of the directors agreed to waive or 
waived any emoluments during the year (2022: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

12. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals during the year included one executive director (2022: one). Details of whose 
emoluments are set out above in Note 11. The details of the emoluments of the remaining four (2022: four) 
highest paid individuals are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Salaries and other allowances 974 1,344
Retirement scheme contributions 71 108   

1,045 1,452
   

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose emoluments fell within the following band is as 
follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Nil to RMB903,000 (equivalents to HK$1,000,000) 4 4
   

During the reporting period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest 
paid employees or senior management as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation 
for loss of office.

No bonus was paid or receivable by directors or five highest paid employees after considering the Group’s 
operational and financial performance during the year (2022: nil).



For the year ended 31 December 2023

116

A
N

N
U

A
L R

E
P

O
R

T
 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Loss
Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the purpose of 
　calculating basic and diluted loss per share (144,372) (5,645)

   

2023 2022
’000 ’000

   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
　calculating basic and diluted loss per share 880,838 880,838

   

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year 
of approximately RMB144,372,000 (2022: approximately RMB5,645,000) and the weighted average number 
of 880,838,000 (2022: 880,838,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were the same because 
exercise of share options would decrease the loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022 and, therefore, be anti-dilutive.

14. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Plant and 

machinery
Motor 

vehicles

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Construction 

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Cost
As at 1 January 2022 393,674 143,676 5 3,326 74,614 615,295
Exchange realignment 5 – – 52 – 57       

As at 31 December 2022 and 
　1 January 2023 393,679 143,676 5 3,378 74,614 615,352
Addition 3,741 475 – – – 4,216
Write-off (250,023) – – – – (250,023)
Transfer from investment property 13,404 – – – – 13,404
Exchange realignment 1 – – 11 – 12       

As at 31 December 2023 160,802 144,151 5 3,389 74,614 382,961       

Accumulated depreciation and 
　impairment
As at 1 January 2022 269,800 143,676 5 3,326 14,745 431,552
Provided for the year 9,050 – – – – 9,050
Exchange realignment 5 – – 52 – 57       

As at 31 December 2022 and
　1 January 2023 278,855 143,676 5 3,378 14,745 440,659       

Provided for the year 9,616 45 – – – 9,661
Transfer from investment property 3,061 – – – – 3,061
Write-off (note) (192,609) – – – – (192,609)
Impairment – – – – 59,869 59,869
Exchange realignment 1 – – 11 – 12       

As at 31 December 2023 98,924 143,721 5 3,389 74,614 320,653       

Carrying amounts
As at 31 December 2023 61,878 430 – – – 62,308
       

As at 31 December 2022 114,824 – – – 59,869 174,693
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Note:

At the end of 2023, the Company received a formal notices from the land lessors of certain breeding farms indicating that due to environmental 
protection, the government requested the land lessors to terminate the land leases of the three farms, i.e. Hongfeng, Tianhe and Qinglin. 
After negotiation with the land lessors, some of them agreed to return the prepaid rental (if any) for the remaining lease period and make 
compensation. Certain reusable facilities and systems from these farms were dismantled and transferred to the farm in Zoushi for storage 
and safekeeping.

Due to the factors such as gloomy pork prices for recent years and African Swine Fever, the Company has adopted a relatively conservative 
strategy in the breeding business in the past few years and has not conducted batch breeding and the conditions of the relevant assets, 
it was determined that the assets (including the building structures and the facilities and systems) of the farms at Hongfeng, Tianhe and 
Qinglin (including those relocated to the farm in Zoushi) would carry no significant future economic benefit to the Group in the near future, 
the management of the Company then made the decision to write off the abovementioned assets of approximately RMB57,414,000 (2022: 
RMB nil).

Impairment loss
In view of the current situation including the long-term low domestic pig prices, the continued spread of African 
Swine Fever with regional outbreaks, the high cost of rebuilding and repairing cost of the disaster-stricken 
farms, the Group considered it was an indication that the property, plant and equipment of the slaughterhouse 
and breeding farms, right-of-use assets and investment property were impaired. The Group carried out an 
impairment testing on the property, plant and equipment of the slaughterhouse and breeding farms, right-
of-use assets and investment property. The recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment of 
the slaughterhouse and breeding farms, right-of-use assets and investment property has been determined 
based on a higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal (2022: higher of value-in-use and fair 
value less costs of disposal).

The recoverable amount has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting and 
Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”), independent valuer not connected with the Group. 

The fair value less cost of disposal is assessed through cost approach which estimated by reference to 
the accumulating costs that would be incurred in order to replace or reproduce the asset in its current 
condition. This approach is generally applied to the valuation of real property interests through the depreciated 
replacement cost method. It is normally used when there is either no evidence of transaction price for similar 
property or no identifiable actual or notional income stream that would accrue to the owner of the relevant 
interest. It is principally used for the valuation of specialised assets, which is property that is rarely if ever 
sold in the market, except by way of sale of the business or entity for which the property is part of the 
business. The assessment of the depreciated replacement cost requires an estimate of the new replacement/
reproduction cost of the assets as at the date of valuation, from which deductions are then made to allow 
for age, condition, functional obsolescence, etc. The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair 
value hierarchy.

The recoverable amount of investment property is estimated individually. The carrying amount of the investment 
property has been reduced to recoverable amount determined using fair value less cost of disposal of breeding 
farm in the PRC. Please refer to Note 17 for the fair value measurement of investment property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment of slaughterhouse and 
breeding farms and investment property based on higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use 
was approximately RMB207,470,000 and RMB nil (2022: approximately RMB210,979,000 and RMB10,900,000 
respectively) and an impairment loss of property, plant and equipment of slaughterhouse and breeding farms 
of approximately RMB59,869,000 has been recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

The qualification of Vincorn
Vincorn’s professionals come from real estate, finance and accounting disciplines. The professional valuers 
of the Vincorn participated in this valuation including but not limited to Member of The Hong Kong Institute 
of Surveyors, Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Registered Professional Surveyor 
(General Practice), Member of the China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Agents, Registered Real 
Estate Appraiser People’s Republic of China, Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, 
Member of the Chartered Financial Analyst Institute and Financial Risk Manager.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Office premises Land use rights Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cost
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022
　and 1 January 2023 102 19,658 19,760
Transfer from investment property – 211 211
Early termination of lease – (756) (756)    

As at 31 December 2023 102 19,113 19,215    

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 1 January 2022 12 10,198 10,210
Charge for the year 4 258 262    

As at 31 December 2022 and
　1 January 2023 16 10,456 10,472
Charge for the year 4 261 265
Transfer from investment property – 54 54
Early termination of lease – (543) (543)    

As at 31 December 2023 20 10,228 10,248    

Carrying amounts
As at 31 December 2023 82 8,885 8,967

    

As at 31 December 2022 86 9,202 9,288
    

The lease terms of the Group’s office premises and land use rights range from 2 to 50 years for the years 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of right-of-use 
assets over their expected useful lives using straight-line method. When there is no reasonable certainty 
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, the assets are depreciated over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Their useful lives are as follows:

Office premises 3–30 years
Land use rights 2–50 years

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased office 
premises that are held by the lessor. Leased office premises may not be used as security for borrowing 
purposes.

Details of the impairment assessment of right-of-use assets are set out in Note 15.

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

RMB’000
  

Cost
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 13,615  

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (13,404)
Transfer to right-of-use assets (211)  

As at 31 December 2023 –  

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2022 1,915
Charge for the year 800  

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2,715
Charge for the year 400
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (3,061)
Transfer to right-of-use assets (54)  

As at 31 December 2023 –  

Carrying amounts
As at 31 December 2023 –

  

As at 31 December 2022 10,900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

For disclosure purpose, the fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 December 2022 was 
RMB10,900,000. The fair value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by Valor Appraisal & 
Advisory Limited (“Valor”), independent valuers not connected with the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the income approach, where the market rentals of the lettable unit of 
the property is assessed and discounted at the market yield expected by investors for this type of property. 
The market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable unit of the property as 
well as other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined by reference 
to the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial properties in the PRC and 
adjusted to take into account the market expectation from property investors to reflect factors specific to 
the Group’s investment property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of the property is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of 
the reporting period are as follows:

2022

Carrying 
amount

Fair value 
at Level 3 
hierarchy

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Breeding farm in the PRC 10,900 10,900
   

The above investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis on the following useful lives:

Breeding farm 20 years

Details of the impairment assessment of investment property are set out in Note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The Group is principally engaged in breeding and slaughtering of hogs and sale of pork products in the PRC.

The quantity of hogs owned by the Group as at the end of reporting period is shown below. The Group’s 
hogs are divided into breeder hogs and porkers.

The number of biological assets are summarised as follows:

2023 2022
   

Breeder hogs – –
   

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Non-current portion - breeder hogs – –
   

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes in price of hogs. The Group does not anticipate 
that the price of hogs will significantly decline in the foreseeable future and the directors of the Company are 
of the view that there is no available derivative or other contracts which the Group can enter into to manage 
the risk of a decline in the price of hogs.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to biological assets and exposed to the following operation 
risks:

(a) Regulatory and environmental risks
The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the location in which it operates breeding of hogs. 
The Group has established environmental policies and procedures aimed at compliance with local 
environmental and other laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify environmental risks 
and to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to manage these risks.

(b) Climate, disease and other natural risks
The Group’s biological assets are exposed to the risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases and 
other natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in place aimed at monitoring and mitigating 
those risks, including but not limited to regular inspections, disease controls, surveys and insurance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Movements of the biological assets are as follows:

Breeder hogs Porkers Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

As at 1 January 2022 387 – 387
Decrease due to retirement and deaths 
　(Note 8) (387) – (387)    

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 – – –

Increase due to purchases 3,900 3,000 6,900
Increase due to raising
　(feeding cost and others) 3,139 3,102 6,241
Decrease due to retirement and deaths 
　(Note 8) (7,039) (6,102) (13,141)    

As at 31 December 2023 – – –
    

Principal assumption for valuation of biological assets
The following principal assumptions have been adopted in the valuation of biological assets:

• there will be no major change in the existing political, technological, legal and economic conditions in 
the PRC;

• there will be no major change in the current taxation law and tax rates as prevailing and that all applicable 
laws and regulations on taxation will be complied with by the Group;

• the interest rates and exchange rates will not materially differ from those presently prevailing;

• the biological assets are properly fed with balance diets such that they are gaining weight in accordance 
under normal growth rate and are receiving appropriate veterinary care;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Principal assumption for valuation of biological assets (Continued)

• the biological assets are free from any animal diseases, including but not limited to sarcoptic mange, 
internal parasites, swine influenza such that they are all healthy and are capable to generate valuable 
outputs in line with normal expectations and subject to normal operating expenses;

• the availability of finance will not be a constraint on the breeding of the breeders hogs;

• the production facilities, systems and the technology utilised by the Group in carrying out its breeding 
operations do not infringe any relevant regulations and law;

• the Group has obtained or shall have no impediment to obtain all necessary governmental permits and 
approvals to carry out its breeding operations in the PRC;

• the biological assets are not subject to any liabilities, interest-bearing loans and encumbrances that 
would impair their fair value as at the relevant valuation date;

• the Group will secure and retain competent management, key personnel, marketing and technical staff 
to carry out and support its breeding operations; and

• the estimated fair value does not include consideration of any extraordinary financing or income 
guarantees, special tax considerations or any other atypical benefits which may influence the fair value 
of the biological assets.

The qualification of Valor
The Group’s biological assets were independently valued by Valor. Valor and its professional valuers in charge 
of this valuation have appropriate qualifications and relevant experiences in various appraisal assignments 
involving biological assets and agricultural produce. The professional valuers of Valor participated in this 
valuation include professional member of the Chartered Financial Analyst (the “CFA”), professional member 
of the Australasian Institute of Mining & Metallurgy (the “MAusIMM”), professional member of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (the “MRICS”), professional member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors 
(the “MHKIS”), professional member of registered valuer (the “RV”), professional member of Registered 
Professional Surveyors (the “RPS”) and professional member of Licensed Estate Agent (the “EAA”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of biological assets:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both years. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Pipe system products – 2,110
   

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Unlisted equity investment in the PRC 2,400 640
   

Hunan Huisheng entered into an agreement with Yueyang Jiuding Agriculture Co., Ltd.*(岳陽九鼎農牧有限公
司) to acquire 6% of equity interest in Changde Jiuding Agriculture Co., Ltd*(常德九鼎農牧有限公司) (“Changde 
Jiuding”) at an aggregate consideration of RMB1,500,000. Changde Jiuding is principally engaged in the 
production of feeds. The transaction was completed in April 2013.

On 20 April 2015, the shareholders of Changde Jiuding injected an additional capital of RMB10,000,000 which 
had immediately diluted Hunan Huisheng equity interest in Changde Jiuding from 6% to 5.8%.

The directors of the Company do not consider that the Group is able to exercise significant influence over 
Changde Jiuding as the remaining equity interest of 94.2% is held by 12 shareholders in 2017, who also 
manage the day-to-day operations of Changde Jiuding.

Details of the fair value measurement of financial assets at FVOCI are set out in Note 5(c).

*　For identification purpose only

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Held-for-trading investments:
　Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note) 4,541 5,155

   

Note:

At 31 December 2023, the fair value of the listed equity securities, amounting to approximately RMB4,541,000 (2022: approximately 
RMB5,155,000), was determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Trade receivables 30,061 18,415
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (13,125) (7,273)   

16,936 11,142
   

The Group offered credit period on sale of pork products and pipe system products ranged from 30 to 90 
days. The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for expected credit losses, based on the 
invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within 30 days 16,804 1,513
31 to 60 days – 4,146
61 to 90 days 132 930
Over 90 days – 4,553   

16,936 11,142
   

The Group’s policy for impairment loss on trade receivables is based on an evaluation of collectability and 
ageing analysis of the receivables which requires the use of judgement and estimates. Provisions would 
apply to the receivables when there are events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may 
not be collectible. The management closely reviews the trade receivables balances and any overdue balances 
on an ongoing basis and assessments are made by the management of the Group on the collectability of 
overdue balances.

Details of the assessment for expected credit losses are set out in Note 5(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Loan receivables (note (a)) 2,621 2,965
Other prepayments, deposits and other receivables 
　(notes (b), (c) and (d)) 18,396 18,700   

21,017 21,665
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (18,528) (470)   

2,489 21,195
   

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2023, there were loan receivables of approximately RMB2,621,000 (2022: approximately RMB2,965,000) net 
of allowances for expected credit losses of approximately RMB2,621,000 (2022: approximately RMB105,000). The loan receivables 
were unsecured, weighted average interest bearing at 12.0% per annum (2022: 13.1% per annum) and repayable within one year 
(2022: one year).

(b) As at 31 December 2023, there was other receivable of approximately RMB7,649,000 net of allowances for expected credit losses 
of approximately RMB6,590,000.

(c) As at 31 December 2023, there were interest receivables of approximately RMB236,000 (2022: approximately RMB524,000) net 
of allowances for expected credit losses of approximately RMB236,000 (2022: approximately RMB19,000).

(d) As at 31 December 2023, there were deposit paid for inventories of approximately RMB9,096,000 (2022: approximately RMB9,637,000) 
net of allowances for expected credit losses of approximately RMB9,081,000 (2022: approximately RMB129,000).

(e) Details of the assessment for expected credit losses are set out in Note 5(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Bank balances and cash 389,836 416,389
   

As at 31 December 2023, the bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to 
approximately RMB389,548,000 (2022: approximately RMB412,117,000). The RMB is not freely convertible 
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s “Foreign Exchange Control Regulations” and 
“Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations”, the Group is permitted 
to exchange RMB for other currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange business.

Bank balances and cash carry interest at prevailing market saving rates is 0.02% to 0.38% per annum as at 
31 December 2023 (2022: 0.02% to 0.035% per annum).

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Lease 
liabilities
RMB’000

  

Net debt as at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 
　1 January 2023 and 
　31 December 2023 102
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. TRADE PAYABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Trade payables 12,072 6,556
   

The Group was offered credit period on purchase of goods within 60 days. The following is an ageing analysis 
of trade payables presented based on the invoice date.

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within 30 days 9,074 3,354
Over 90 days 2,998 3,202   

12,072 6,556
   

26. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Other payables for property, plant and equipment 100 100
Accruals and other payables (note) 58,313 74,190   

58,413 74,290
   

Note:

All accruals and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 1 –

Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding 
　two years 28 29
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding 
　five years – –

Over five years 73 73   

102 102

Less: A mount due for settlement with 12 months shown under 
current liabilities (1) –   

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under 
　non-current liabilities 101 102

   

No cash outflow for lease payment during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

28. DEFERRED REVENUE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Arising from government grant (note) 202 227
   

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Non-current liabilities 177 202
Current liabilities 25 25   

202 227
   

Note:

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group has unused government grants in relation to the construction of qualifying assets. The 
deferred revenue will be recognised upon construction of qualifying assets. The government grant is not repayable.

29. SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of share capital of the Company are as follows:

Number 
of shares Amount

HK$’000 RMB’000
    

Authorised:
Balances as at 1 January 2022, 31 
　December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 
　31 December 2023 of HK$0.01 each 1,500,000,000 15,000 11,810

    

Issued and fully paid:
Balances as at 1 January 2022, 31 
　December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 
　31 December 2023 of HK$0.01 each 880,838,000 8,808 7,308
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 11 February 2014 (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) 
was terminated with effect from 30 June 2023 and no more share option may be granted under the 2014 
Share Option Scheme. All outstanding share options under the 2014 Share Option Scheme would continue 
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the principal terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The 
Company adopted a new share option scheme at the annual general meeting held on 30 June 2023 (the “2023 
Share Option Scheme). The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to 
selected eligible participants (including employees, executives or officers, directors including non-executive 
directors and independent non-executive directors, advisers, consultants, suppliers and customers of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries) for their contribution to the Group. The 2023 Share Option Scheme, 
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date of which the 2023 
Share Option Scheme is adopted.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options granted to each eligible participant in the Share 
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) within any 12-month period is limited to 
1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share options in excess of this limit 
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

A grant of share options under the 2023 Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or substantial 
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance by the independent 
non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the option). 
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non- executive director 
of the Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued, 
in respect of all options and awards granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the scheme) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant 
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue, such further grant of options or 
awards must be approved by shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer upon payment of 
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is 
determined by the directors, save that such a period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of offer 
of the share options and subject to the provisions for early termination as set out in the 2023 Share Option 
Scheme.

The exercise price of the share options shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares 
of the Company on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the share options, which must be a date on 
which the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average closing price of the 
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of 
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of offer.

On 28 July 2021, the Company granted a total of 88,080,000 options with the rights to subscribe 88,080,000 
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company under the 2014 Share Option Scheme. 
The closing price per share immediately before the grant of options on 28 July 2021 was HK$0.083. A total 
of 88,080,000 options were granted to the employees and consultants of the Company respectively, at an 
exercise price of HK$0.083 each (all the new options granted have no vesting period or vesting condition).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Neither share options were granted nor exercised during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023 was 
88,083,800 shares (2022: 88,083,800 shares) which represented approximately 10.0% (2022: approximately 
10.0%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

Details of such interests and movement of options granted by the Company are shown below:

Number of share option    

Name of category of 
participants

At 
1 January 

2022

Cancelled 
during the 

year

Granted 
during the 

year

At 
31 December 

2022 and 
1 January 

2023

Cancelled
during the

year

Granted
during the

year

At 
31 December

2023

Date of 
grant of 

share
 options

Exercise 
period of 

share 
options

Exercise 
price of 

share 
options

Price of 
Company‘s 

share at 
grant date of 

share 
options

(dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy)
             

Other eligible participants
Employees 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000 28/07/2021 28/07/2021 to 

　27/07/2024
HK$0.083 HK$0.083

        

Sub- total 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000        

Consultants 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000 28/07/2021 28/07/2021 to 
　27/07/2024

HK$0.083 HK$0.083

        

Sub- total 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000 – – 44,040,000        

Total: 88,080,000 – – 88,080,000 – – 88,080,000
        

Weighted average exercise price 
　(HK$)

0.083 0.083 0.083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

As the fair value of services received could not be estimated reliably by the Company, the fair value of services 
received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.

The fair value of the share options is determined using the Binominal Model. The Binominal Model taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The variables and assumptions 
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the Directors’ best estimate. The value 
of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Inputs into the model
  

Dividend yield (%) 0.00%
Expected volatility (%) 69.49%
Risk free interest rate (%) 0.22%
Expected life of options (year) 3
Stock price (HK$ per share) 0.083
Fair value at measurement date (HK$ each option) 0.03

  

No expense was recognised by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 in relation to share 
options granted by the Company.

At the end of reporting period of 2023, the Company had 88,080,000 (2022: 88,080,000) share options 
outstanding under the 2014 Share Option Scheme. Assuming that the exercise in full of the outstanding 
share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 88,080,000 
(2022: 88,080,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$880,800 
(2022: HK$880,800) during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current asset
Investment in subsidiaries –* –*    

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,541 5,155
Other receivables and prepayments 1,078 507
Amounts due from subsidiaries 483 21,537
Bank balances and cash 127 54    

6,229 27,253
    

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 39,233 36,807    

Net current liabilities (33,004) (9,554)
    

Total assets less current liabilities (33,004) (9,554)
    

Net liabilities (33,004) (9,554)
    

Equity
Share capital 29 7,308 7,308
Reserves 32 (40,312) (16,862)    

Total deficit (33,004) (9,554)
    

*　The amount represents less than RMB1,000

The financial statement was approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 
28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Qin Yuanling Chan Kwun Nam
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Share 
premium

Share option 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

As at 1 January 2022 445,247 2,416 23,566 (459,164) 12,065
Loss and total comprehensive expense for 
　the year – – 604 (29,531) (28,927)      

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 445,247 2,416 24,170 (488,695) (16,862)
      

Loss and total comprehensive income for 
　the year – – (408) (23,042) (23,450)      

As at 31 December 2023 445,247 2,416 23,762 (511,737) (40,312)
      

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share 
capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital 
and the risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its overall capital structure through the payment 
of dividends, injection of capital as well as making new borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The following is the gearing ratio at the end of each reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Total borrowings (note (a)) – –

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company (note (b)) 420,888 563,583   

Gearing ratio N/A N/A
   

Notes:

(a) Total borrowings represent borrowings.

(b) Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company includes all share capital and reserves at the end of each reporting period.

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, 
employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 (2022: 
HK$:1,500) and they can choose to make additional contributions. Employers’ monthly contributions are 
calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 (2022: HK$1,500) (the 
“mandatory contributions”). Employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon 
their retirement at the age of 65, death or total incapacity.

Employees of the subsidiaries and an associate in the PRC are members of the state-sponsored pension 
scheme operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries and an associate were required to contribute a 
certain percentage of the payroll of their staff to the pension scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation 
of the Group with respect to the pension scheme is to make the required contributions.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset employers’ contributions for the year. And at the end 
of the reporting period, there was no forfeited contribution available to reduce the contributions payable in 
the future years.

The total costs charged to profit or loss of approximately RMB114,000 (2022: approximately RMB196,000) 
represents contributions paid or payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting 
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for in respect of 
　acquisition of property, plant and equipment – 2,383

   

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had entered into transactions with 
related parties which in the opinion of directors were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s business, as shown below:

Compensation of key management personnel
The directors of the Company are identified as key management members of the Group and their compensation 
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out in Note 11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal place of 
business and date 
of incorporation

Paid up capital or 
registered capital

Percentage of equity interest and voting 
power attributable to the Company

Principal activities2023 2022
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
         

Quick Choice Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong, 
8 June 2016

Ordinary share 
US$1

100 – 100 – Investment holding

Huisheng Enterprise Holdings 
　Limited

BVI Hong Kong, 
19 August 2016

Ordinary share 
US$1

100 – 100 – Investment holding

Fully Everfield Limited BVI Hong Kong, 
16 December 2016

Ordinary share 
US$1

100 – 100 – Investment holding

Hongkong Huisheng Meat Food 
　Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong, 
14 March 2006

Ordinary shares 
HK$5,000,000

– 100 – 100 Investment holding

Excellence Circle Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, 
3 June 2016

Ordinary share 
HK$41,198,841

– 100 – 100 Inactive

Huisheng Enterprise 
　(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong, 
6 September 2016

Ordinary share 
HK$1

– 100 – 100 Money lending business

Profitable Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, 
22 July 2016

Ordinary share 
HK$1

– 100 – 100 Provision of administrative services

Hunan Huisheng* (note (a)) The PRC The PRC, 
18 December 2007

Registered capital 
RMB136,700,000

– 100 – 100 Breeding and slaughtering of hogs 
　and sale of pork products

Linli Huisheng Meat Products 
　Company Limited* (note (b))

The PRC The PRC, 
19 August 2013

Registered capital 
RMB12,000,000

– 100 – 100 Investment holding

Linli Huisheng Ecological Hog 
　Breeding Company Limited* 
　(Linli Huisheng Hog Breeding) 
　(note (b))

The PRC The PRC, 
17 September 2013

Registered capital 
RMB16,000,000 

(note (c))

– 91.9 – 91.9 Breeding, farming and sale of 
　piglets and porkers and provision 
　of consultancy service in hog 
　breeding and farming

Taoyuan County Huisheng Meat 
　Products Company Limited* 
　(note (b))

The PRC The PRC, 
18 September 2014

Registered capital 
RMB15,000,000

– 100 – 100 Breeding, farming and sale of 
　piglets and porkers and provision 
　of consultancy service in hog 
　breeding and farming

Changde Xihu District Huisheng
　Meat Company Limited* 
　(note (b))

The PRC The PRC, 
22 December 2022

Registered capital 
RMB10,000,000

– 60 – 60 Breeding, farming and sale of 
　piglets and porkers and provision 
　of consultancy service in hog 
　breeding and farming

株式會社Deson Japan Japan Japan, 
1 July 2010

Registered capital 
JPY10,000,000

– 70 – 70 Selling and distributing of pipe 
　system products, conducting in 
　the provision of technical advisory 
　services on the design, 
　application, implementation and 
　installation

*　For identification purpose only 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) This subsidiary is wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

(b) These subsidiaries are domestic enterprise with limited liabilities established in the PRC.

Significant restrictions
Cash and short-term deposits of RMB held in the PRC are subject to local exchange control regulations. 
These local exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the PRC, other 
than through normal dividends.

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one of the non-controlling shareholders contributed the capital in 
the form of assets to Changde Xihu District Huisheng Meat Company Limited*(常德市西湖區惠生肉食有限公
司), being a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. These assets were revalued at approximately 
RMB4,000,000 at the time of injection.  

The Group entered in the above non-cash activities which are not reflected in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows.

39. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In early of February 2024, a severe ice and snow disaster struck Hunan Province, China, causing widespread 
freezing rain and heavy snowfall. The Group’s two breeding farms located in Taoyuan City and Changde 
City, both within Hunan Province, were severely impacted, resulting in significant damage and subsequently 
collapse the facilities. No adjustment has been made in these financial statements in this regard.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group 
after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

40. COMPARATIVES FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be consistent with the current year’s presentation.

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 
28 March 2024.

*　For identification purpose only
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the published audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report, is set out below:

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Revenue 68,297 72,947 81,291 29,663 5,655
Cost of sales (68,159) (71,106) (78,689) (31,746) (5,570)      

Gross profit/(loss) 138 1,841 2,602 (2,083) 85
Other income 10,399 11,362 9,131 22,022 27,405
Other gain or loss, net (270) (3,494) (16,724) (2,090) 1,171
Loss arising from change in fair value less 
　costs to sell of biological assets – – (12,103) (11,612) –

(Loss)/gain arising from change in fair value 
　of financial assets at fair value through 
　profit or loss (701) 292 776 (987) (5,759)
Impairment loss of property, plant and 
　equipment (59,869) – (6,898) (7,847) (94,674)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment (57,414) – – – –

Impairment loss of right-of-use assets – – – – (6,204)
Impairment loss of investment property – – – (459) –

Impairment loss of deposits and 
　prepayments for property, plant and 
　equipment – – – – (43,979)
Impairment loss of deposits and 
　prepayments for biological assets – – – – (28,000)
(Allowance for)/reversal of
　expected credit losses, net (24,487) 484 11,550 (12,489) (12,111)
Selling and distribution expenses (53) (81) (87) (18) –

Administrative expenses (14,678) (19,361) (19,351) (17,343) (22,007)
Finance costs – – (779) (696) (1,256)      

Loss before taxation (146,935) (8,957) (31,883) (33,602) (185,329)
Taxation (3,347) – – (3,124) (6,240)      

Loss for the year (150,282) (8,957) (31,883) (36,726) (191,569)      

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (144,372) (5,645) (31,771) (36,625) (191,516)
Non-controlling interests (5,910) (3,312) (112) (101) (53)      

(150,282) (8,957) (31,883) (36,726) (191,569)
      



For the year ended 31 December 2023

144

A
N

N
U

A
L R

E
P

O
R

T
 2023

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the published audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report, is set out below: (Continued)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Total assets 487,477 651,512 658,717 700,910 701,874
Total liabilities (70,789) (90,535) (84,581) (102,770) (62,984)      

Total equity 416,688 560,977 574,136 598,140 638,890
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